
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, September 12, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 

a) Lake Bluff Police Department Service Awards 
b) A Proclamation Designating October 2016 as “Fire Prevention Month” 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF THE AUGUST 22, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
 

5. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed 
on the agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

6. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of 
business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

7. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for September 1-15, 2016 and August 2016 Payroll Expenditures 
b) August 2016 Finance Report 

 
8. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) A Report Regarding the Disposition of Certain Village Records 
 
9. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
10. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 
11. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports 
on August 19, 26 and September 2, 2016. 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – September 12, 2016 
 

Page 2 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

12. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING 
REGULATIONS TO ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS FOR PLANNED 
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

13. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS TO THE 
CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY BUILDING AT 200 ROCKLAND 
ROAD 

 
14. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING AN AGREEMENT WITH PETER BAKER & 

SONS CONSTRUCTION AND WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDDING TO COMPLETE 
MISCELLANEOUS ASPHALT PATCHING AND TRAIL REPAIRS 

 
15. A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AND 

WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE EMERGENCY REPAIR OF MOFFETT 
ROAD 
 

16. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE III OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE 
CONCERNING THE CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES 

 
17. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
18. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
19. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P R O C L A M A T I O N 
 

Designating October 2016 as “Fire Prevention Month” 
 
 WHEREAS, in 2015, U.S. Fire Departments responded to 1,298,000 fires, or one fire every 
24 seconds; and, 
 

WHEREAS, nationwide there were 3,275 fire deaths, or one every 192 minutes; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, property loss resulting from fire during the same period totaled in excess of 
11.6 billion dollars; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, an enlightened and supportive citizenry can be effective in reducing both loss 
of life and property damage resulting from fire; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff is committed to protecting its citizens from fire 
losses; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff is served by an all volunteer Fire Department which 
works with its residents to promote fire safety.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, hereby proclaims October 2016, “Fire Prevention Month” in the Village of 
Lake Bluff. 
 
 Village of Lake Bluff residents are encouraged to change the batteries in their home smoke 
detectors, form a fire escape plan for their home, and participate in continuing information and 
educational activities of the Lake Bluff Fire Department, during Fire Prevention Month and 
throughout the year, and to practice fire safety and prevention on a continuing basis. 
 
PASSED this 12th day of September, 2016. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Village Clerk      Village President 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item: 3b



  
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

AUGUST 22, 2016 
                                                                                                     

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
Eric Grenier 
John Josephitis  

         
Absent:   William Meyer     
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director      
    Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
    Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  
  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
President O’Hara read the Proclamation proclaiming September 10, 2016 as Patriotic Spirit Day in Lake 
Bluff. 
 
Ms. Joanna Rolek, Executive Director of the Chamber of Commerce, stated it is an honor to participate in 
the upcoming event and thanked the Village Board for approving the proclamation. She provided 
information regarding the lflbmilitaryconnections.com site located on the Lake Forest/Lake Bluff 
Commerce website to promote local area merchandise. 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting August 22, 2016 
 

2 
 

Trustee Dewart moved to approve the August 8, 2016 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes with 
corrections as suggested.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous 
voice vote. 
 

5. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS  
 
President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 
Ms. Sandra Hart, Lake County Board Member and Lake County Forest Preserve Commissioner, 
commented on the importance of transparency regarding government issues.  She announced the Lake 
County Board, Finance and Administration meetings are now being televised and noted the 2017 Budget 
meetings will be held on October 18 and 19, 2016.  Ms. Hart thanked the Board for televising Lake Bluff’s 
meetings. 
 

6. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone 
present on the order of the business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 
There were no requests to change the order of the meeting. 
 

7. ITEM #7A – WARRANT REPORT FOR AUGUST 16-31, 2016   
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$238,799.39 for August 16-31, 2016. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $238,799.39. 
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to approve the Warrant Report.   
Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier and Josephitis  
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Meyer  
 

8. ITEM #8 – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin had no report. 
 

9. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

10. ITEM #10 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting August 22, 2016 
 

3 
 

President O’Hara reported on the upcoming Patriotic Spirit Day in Lake Bluff event scheduled for 
September 10th. 
 

11. ITEM #11 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Reports on August 5 and 12, 2016. 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Ankenman seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

12. ITEM #12 – A RESOLUTION ENCOURAGING COMMONWEALTH EDISON TO ALLOW 
RESIDENTS AN OPPORTUNITY TO PERMANENTLY OPT OUT OF THE SMART METER 
PROGRAM 
 
President O’Hara reported during the August 8, 2016 the Committee-of-the-Whole meeting the Village 
Board discussed a request from the City of Lake Forest Mayor to consider a Resolution Encouraging 
Commonwealth Edison to Allow Residents an Opportunity to Permanently Opt Out of the Smart Meter 
Program (“Resolution”) which the Lake Forest City Council approved on July 18, 2016.  Following a 
discussion regarding (i) the City of Lake Forest’s Resolution and (ii) policy matters associated with the 
Village’s planned installation of an automatic water meter reading system, it was the consensus of the 
Village Board to consider a similar Resolution at its next regularly scheduled meeting.  She further 
reported that ComEd has recently advised staff that they will be filing with the Illinois Commerce 
Commission a petition to modify the current smart meter opt-out provisions the week of August 22nd.  
Details regarding that petition have not yet been released.   
 
President O’Hara read the proposed resolution and a discussion followed.  
 
Trustee Grenier moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.   The motion 
passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Meyer  
 

13. ITEM #13 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING REGULATIONS TO 
ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS FOR PLANNED MIXED-USE 
DEVELOPMENTS 

 
President O’Hara reported in May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group, 
LLC (Petitioner) seeking: (i) a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for 
Planned Mixed-Use Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence 
District (R-5) and the Central Business District (CBD) (Text Amendment); and (ii) a special use permit 
for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit multi-family structure and related 
improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank property) to construct and 
maintain the Development at the Property. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting August 22, 2016 
 

4 
 

The purpose of PMDs is to allow for modification of underlying use, bulk, space and yard regulations that 
may impose unnecessary rigidities on the proposed development or redevelopment of land that requires 
an individual, planned approach.  The two-phase review process of the PMD Ordinance includes: 
 

 Optional preliminary public meeting with the PCZBA to obtain feedback on the potential PMD; 
 Development Concept Plan review public hearing with the PCZBA; 
 Optional Development Concept Plan review workshop meeting and review by ABR; 
 Development Concept Plan consideration by the Village Board;  
 Final Development Plan review public hearings & public meetings with PCZBA and ABR; and 
 Final Development Plan consideration by the Village Board.  

 
President O’Hara reported at the conclusion of the August 17th public hearing regarding the text 
amendment, the PCZBA voted (6-1) to recommend the Village Board: (i) approve and adopt the attached 
ordinance providing for a text amendment establishing a process and related regulations for PMDs; and 
(ii) consider including in the PMD ordinance a requirement that two-thirds of the Village Trustees must 
vote in favor of a proposed PMD if the PCZBA has recommended that the proposed PMD be denied.  The 
PCZBA member who did not vote in favor of the PMD ordinance expressed concern with the PMD option 
as an alternative to the underlying zoning regulations; more specifically, the concern was that the PMD 
draft language did not require the redevelopment of qualifying properties to use a PMD approval process. 
 
President O’Hara opened the floor for public comments. 
 
Mr. Robert Isham (resident) commented on the provisions in the PMD Ordinance regarding harmony of 
the adjacent neighborhoods and neighborhood feelings; Mr. Isham stated he was not asking the Village 
Board to consider allowing neighbors to veto any proposed redevelopment but rather ask them to find a 
way to place within the PMD guidelines standards that will consider the feelings of the neighbors.  He 
expressed his understanding if the PCZBA did not act within two public hearings the development would 
be approved and he asked that the automatic approval not be included. 
 
Mr. Thomas Zarse (resident) expressed his understanding the PMD Ordinance will remove existing zoning 
protections and laws, and asked the Village Board to consider more stringent replacement protections such 
as to prevent zero setbacks that are not consistent with surrounding properties.   
 
Ms. Jean Niemi (resident) expressed her concern with changes to the current zoning that would allow a 
height greater than 30 ft.  Ms. Niemi expressed her concern with the draft PMD Ordinance and with the 
process because the ordinance eliminates neighborhood protections. In response to a comment from Ms. 
Niemi regarding a rumor of a future parking lot south of Block Three east of the library, President O’Hara 
stated the Village has not approved any plans for a parking lot across from the Block Three property. 
 
Ms. Holli Volkert (resident) expressed her understanding if the property owner allows a developer to build 
within the current zoning regulations the PMD Ordinance would not be enacted and would not come 
before the Village Board for approval.  She asked if Village Board approval could be included in the draft 
PMD Ordinance.  Village Attorney Peter Friedman stated this type of action would be a down zoning and 
would take away the “as of right” zoning from property owners.  The PMD Ordinance provides the Village 
flexibility for developments outside the current underling zoning.  Ms. Volkert asked if the PMD 
Ordinance allows developers to purchase any ½ acre lot in the CBD and if R-4 and R-5 Zoning Districts 
are included in the PMD.  Ms. Volkert expressed her concern with a lack of specific parameters for 
developing property in the CBD.  Village Administrator Drew Irvin stated a lot in the B District (R-4) and 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting August 22, 2016 
 

5 
 

lot in the C Residential District (R-5) maybe used as part of the PMD, only if the lot is adjacent to a lot 
located in the CBD. Ms. Volkert also suggested including bulk parameters in the PMD Ordinance to give 
direction to developers.  She also asked the Village Board to strongly consider the PCZBA’s 
recommendation to require a super majority vote when PMD’s are not recommended for approval. 
 
Ms. Adrienne Doherty (resident) commented on the Harrison House development and expressed her 
opinion the overall process has been too fast.  She asked the Village to slow down the review process and 
carefully vet the proposed developer as this particular development will change the character of Lake 
Bluff.   
 
Mr. Paul Lemieux (resident) expressed his strong support for the PMD Ordinance because it will give the 
Village more control over proposed developments.  
 
Trustee Josephitis recused himself from the deliberation and left the meeting. 
 
Trustee Ankenman expressed a desire to have the Village Attorney review the draft PMD ordinance. 
 
Village Attorney Friedman addressed certain public comments regarding the PMD approval process and 
any failure to act that was in the ordinance.  He stated failure of the PCZBA to commence its public 
hearing within 60 days, during the conceptual plan, shall be deemed to be a recommendation to the Village 
Board to approve the final plan as submitted.  There is no deadline during the final approval process, the 
provision states the PCZBA has to commence a public hearing within 60 days after the final approval 
application has been filed.  Village Attorney Friedman reviewed the design guideline standards and certain 
provisions of the draft PMD Ordinance in relation to comments received from the public.  A discussion 
followed. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated the PCZBA recommended height restrictions not be included in the 
PMD Ordinance to allow flexibility for each proposal to be evaluated on its own merit. 
 
In response to a comment from Trustee Grenier, Village Administrator Irvin stated the PMD Ordinance 
does not prevent a property owner from seeking a zoning variation.  He stated a public hearing process 
and Village Board approval would still be required for any development that required zoning relief. 
 
Trustee Dewart stated the PMD Ordinance allows for a comprehensive review process, public comment 
and provides the Village with standards and additional protection not allowed under the current zoning. 
 
Trustee Christensen stated there has been a lot of information shared regarding the proposed development. 
He expressed his understanding the process is working because planned developments are considered at 
local level.  He expressed his concern regarding the lack of housing diversity in the Village and his belief 
the PMD Ordinance is the best tool to be used for redeveloping the CBD. 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve first reading of the ordinance. Trustee Ankenman seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
In response to request from President O’Hara, Village Attorney Friedman explained the PCZBA’s desire 
to require a super majority vote by the Village Board should the PCZBA recommend denial of a PMD.     
Village Attorney Friedman reviewed the existing PCZBA and ABR voting provisions which require a 
super majority vote. A policy discussion ensued. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting August 22, 2016 
 

6 
 

 
Trustee Grenier expressed his preference to work with advisory boards to resolve issues as opposed to 
voting against a recommendation.  He expressed his concern with an appointed body having more 
authority than an elected body. 
 
Trustee Ankenman stated the Village Board trust the advisory board process and expressed her support to 
require a super majority vote. 
 
Trustee Christensen praised the work of the advisory boards, and expressed his support for not requiring 
a super majority vote because ultimately the responsibility ends with the Village Board. 
 
Trustee Dewart stated, from a legislative standpoint, the Village Board is duly elected by the community 
and responsible for decisions that are made. 
 
Discussion regarding a desire to reconcile differences in opinion from advisory bodies was had by the 
Village Board.  Following that discussion, it was the consensus of the Village Board to not include a 
provision that would trigger a super majority vote should the PCZBA vote to not recommend approval of 
a PMD. 
 

14. ITEM #14 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

15. ITEM #16 – CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 8, 2016 EXECUTIVE 
SESSION MEETING 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the August 8, 2016 Executive Session Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

16. ITEM #17 – ADJOURNMENT 
                                                                              
Trustee Ankenman moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion and the 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 8:19 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 



 

 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
            Agenda Item:  7a 
  
 
Subject: 

 
WARRANT REPORT FOR SEPTEMBER 1-15, 2016 AND 
AUGUST 2016 PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 

 
Action Requested: 

 
APPROVAL OF DISBURSEMENTS (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

  
Referred To: 

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of $276,657.75 for 
September 1-15, 2016. 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $270,089.36 for August 2016. 
 
Total Expenditures of $546,747.11 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. Warrant Report for September 1-15, 2016              $276,657.75  (dated 9/12/16) 

 
Please note that this warrant report includes a payment to DeMuth Inc. for the 
emergency repair of water main breaks and a broken fire hydrant on Armour Drive. 
This expenditure was estimated at $16,500 however, a broken fire hydrant increased 
the project cost to $20,700. Pursuant to the Village’s Purchasing Policies Section 6.4 
purchases in excess of $20,000 made to remedy an emergency condition may be 
accomplished by Village Administrator authorization, to subsequently be ratified by 
the Village Board. 

 
Note that the warrant report designates those checks issued prior to the Board’s 
formal approval as manual checks “M” on the Warrant Report.  These are checks that 
are prepared in advance of the warrant due to contractual or governmental/payroll tax 
obligations; to obtain a discount; or for extenuating circumstances that may arise.  
 

2. FY2016-17 Payroll Report. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   
 
Approval of Warrant and Payroll in the total amount of $546,747.11 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 



































































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

        Agenda Item: 7b 

 

 

Subject: 

 

AUGUST 2016 FINANCIAL REPORT                      

 

Action Requested: 

 

RECEIPT OF FINANCIAL REPORT (Voice Vote) 

 

Originated By: 

 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

Referred To:  

 

VILLAGE BOARD 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

 

Attached for your consideration is the August 2016 Financial Report. 

 

Highlights of this report are: 

 Sales tax revenue for May 2016 is of $282k is $51k or 22% greater than May 

2015;  

 Home rule sales tax of $99k is $39k or 65% greater than May 2015;  

 Income tax revenue of $200k for May-August 2016 is 17% lower than the same 

period in 2015; 

 Building permit revenue is $206k and is $19k or 8.5% less than May-August 

2015; and 

 We continue to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess the 

implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue 

allocations, property tax limitation changes, or pension reform become law. 

 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

 

 August 2016 Financial Report 

 

 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of Report. 

 

 

Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 

 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Village President and Board of Trustees 
  Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:  Susan M. Griffin, Director of Finance 
 
DATE:  September 7, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: September 2016 Monthly Report 
 
Treasury Report – Exhibit A 
Attached is the two page Treasury Report for August 2016.  The total cash and investments in the 
treasury for the governmental and water funds are $10,145,188 plus $8,959,358 for the Police 
Pension Fund.   
 
Investment Report – Exhibit B 
Attached is the Investment Report for the month ending August 31, 2016.  The par value plus interest 
credited to the CD’s for the governmental and Water fund short-term investments is $2,736,908.  
The Village investments are managed within the guidelines of the Village’s Cash Management and 
Investment Policy.   
 
Budget Analysis Report – Exhibit C  
Attached is the Budget Analysis Report for August 2016. The revenues in Exhibit C reflect actual and 
estimated receipts.  Below is more specific information about the major revenues and expenditures 
by fund.  The General and Water Funds revenues and expenditures that exceed or are under 20% of 
the prior year amounts have been highlighted on Exhibit C.     
 
General Fund Revenues: 
 
Property Tax revenue is received predominately in June and September as the taxes are due by the 
first week of those months.  The total Village tax extension for the 2015 property taxes (received in 
FY17) is $3,193,440 with the General Fund receiving 69% or $2,195,529 of the monies.  The IMRF, 
FICA and Police Pension Funds receive the balance of the revenues of $997,811.  The Police Pension 
property taxes are recorded as a revenue in the General Fund and a transfer out of the General Fund 
into the Police Pension Fund in compliance with GASB.   
 
The 2015 property tax extension, received from May-December 2016 and recorded as revenue in 
FY2017, of $3,193,440 is $43,744 or 1.4% more than the 2014 extension.  For the first time since 
2009 the Village’s EAV grew increasing by 8.8% to $521.832 million.   
 
Sales Tax Revenue (non-home rule 1% and local use tax) is shown in table format on the next page 
with monthly revenues for FY17, FY16, and FY15.  May 2016 revenue is $51,636 or 22% greater than 
May 2015.  The revenue for FY16 is $2,791,899 which is $258,653 or 10% greater than FY15.  The 
FY15 sales tax of $2,533,246 is $272,370 or 12% greater than FY14. The chart on page 3 shows the 
non-home rule sales tax by month for the calendar years 2011 through May 2016.  June-August 2016 
numbers have not been reported to the municipalities at this time. 
 
 
 
 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #1



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 2 

 

 
Liability Month 

FY2016-17 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY2015-16 
Revenue  
(B) 

$ Change 
FY16 to 
FY17 (A-B) 

FY2014-15 
Revenue  
(C) 

$ Change 
FY15- FY16  
(B-C) 

May 2015 $  281,889 $  230,253  $ 51,636 $  214,330  $ 15,923 

June   $  221,167  $  207,740  $ 13,427 

July  $  231,558  $  235,549 ($   3,991) 

August   $  237,694  $  210,817  $ 26,877 

September   $  229,733  $  189,923  $ 39,810 

October   $  243,811  $  191,588  $ 52,223 

November   $  261,349  $  216,524  $ 44,825 

December   $  274,963  $  229,680  $ 45,283 

January 2016  $  207,309  $  201,909  $   5,400 

February  $  195,430  $  184,808  $ 10,622 

March   $  235,774  $  219,534  $ 16,240 

April   $  222,858  $  230,844 ($  7,986) 

FY Total  $281,889 $2,791,899  $ 51,636 $2,533,246  $ 258,653 

FY Monthly 
Average  

 
$ 281,889 

 
  $232,658 

  
  $211,104 

 

 
Home rule sales tax became effective January 1, 2006 with actual receipts shown below.  By statute 
this 1% tax does not apply to food/medicines and titled products such as autos. May 2016 home rule 
sales tax is $39,111 or 65% higher than the May 2015. The home rule sales tax revenue for FY16 of 
$786,893 is $242,621 or 45% higher than FY15.  The FY15 home rule sales tax of $544,272 is $18,839 
or 3.6% more than FY14 revenue. The chart on page 4 shows the home rule sales tax by month for 
the calendar years 2011 through April 2016.  June-August 2016 numbers are not available at this 
time. 
 

Home Rule Sales 
Tax By Liability 
Month 

FY2016-17 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY2015-16 
Revenue 
(B) 

$ Change 
FY16 to FY17 
(A-B) 

FY2014-15 
Revenue 
(C) 

$ Change 
FY15 to 
FY16 (B-C) 

May 2015  $ 99,436  $ 60,325  $ 39,111  $ 51,864  $    8,461 

June     $ 55,143   $ 53,809  $    1,334 

July    $ 59,056   $ 45,382  $  13,674 

August    $ 65,060   $ 47,867  $  17,193 

September    $ 69,262   $ 44,378  $  24,884 

October    $ 71,862   $ 49,349  $  22,513 

November    $ 72,579   $ 44,780  $  27,799 

December   $ 88,604   $ 51,229  $  37,375 

January 2016    $ 56,058   $ 40,487  $  15,571 

February    $ 55,196   $ 30,334  $  24,862 

March    $ 73,149   $ 37,121  $  36,028 

April    $ 60,599   $ 47,672  $  12,927 

FY Total  $99,436 $786,893  $ 39,111 $544,272  $242,621 

FY Monthly 
Average 

 
$  99,436 

 
$  65,574 

  
$  45,356 

 



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 3 

 
 

 
 
 
 

2011 

2011 

2012 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2014 

2016 

2015 

2015 

$100
$110
$120
$130
$140
$150
$160
$170
$180
$190
$200
$210
$220
$230
$240
$250
$260
$270
$280
$290
$300

Thousands
SALES TAX REVENUE

(not including Home Rule Sales Tax)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2016 2015



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 4 

 
 

 
 

2011
2012 

2012 

2013

2013 

2014 

2014 

2016 

2015 

2015 

$25
$28
$31
$34
$37
$40
$43
$46
$49
$52
$55
$58
$61
$64
$67
$70
$73
$76
$79
$82
$85
$88
$91
$94
$97

$100
$103
$106

Thousands

HOME RULE SALES TAX REVENUE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2016 2015



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 5 

Other Taxes category encompasses state income, personal property replacement, and the demolition tax.   
 
The actual income tax revenue for May-August 2016 at $199,604 is 17% less than the same period in 2015.  
May 2015-April 2016 (FY16) at $609,807 is 8.8% higher than FY15 at $560,382.  Below is a chart showing the 
income tax revenues by month from January 2011-August 2016.   

 
According to the Illinois Municipal League, the 36% jump in the May 2013 receipts were an aberration caused 
partly by individuals and corporations reporting capital gains income in anticipation of significant changes in 
Federal tax policy.  The revenue for May 2015 is $102,570 or 5% more than June 2013.  Again this could be an 
increase in capital gains. 
 
The following page shows a bar graph of the income tax revenue by fiscal year for FY09-FY16. Fiscal year 2016 
total revenue of $609,807 is the highest year in over 20 years.  However, this source of revenue is one that is 
likely to decline if the State revises the formula for sharing income tax revenue with local municipalities. No 
word yet with any conclusive plans regarding changes to the municipal share as the State still has not finalized 
a budget. 
 

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY 2015

CY2016

CY2016

CY2016

CY2016

CY2016

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

$45

$50

$55

$60

$65

$70

$75

$80

$85

$90

$95

$100

$105

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Thousands LAKE BLUFF STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY2015

CY2016



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 6 

 
 
Utility Taxes category is comprised of a tax on electric, natural gas, and telecommunications usage.  The tax is 
5% of the distribution, supply, furnishing or sale of natural gas and electricity consumed within the Village with 
the electric tax being based on tiers of kilowatt hours usage.  The telecommunications tax is 5% of the gross 
charge for the act or privilege of originating or receiving telecommunications in the Village and all services 
rendered in connection therewith.   
 
North Shore Gas utility tax revenues are received quarterly in June (for February-April), September (for May-
July), December (for August-October), and March (for November-January).  Below is a chart showing the 
natural gas tax revenues by quarter for the past 6 years. 

 
 
The February-April 2014 quarter amount of $107,763 was 68% greater than the same quarter in 2013. This is 
attributed to the increase in natural gas consumption for building heating because of the subzero 
temperatures experienced in the Midwest during the winter of 2014. This cooler weather pattern is assumed 
to be partly the reason for the May-July 2014 amount of $51,521 which is the highest amount received for the 
summer quarter since at least 1996!  May-July 2015 tax of $30,411 is consistent with the same quarters in 
previous years, except for 2014.  The August-October 2015 tax of $20,059 is slightly less than the prior year.  
The November 2015-January 2016 tax of $37,234 is 37% less than the same period the prior year consistent 

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
FISCAL YEAR

STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

2016

$51,521 

$107,763 

$0
$10,000
$20,000
$30,000
$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$70,000
$80,000
$90,000

$100,000
$110,000

May-July Aug-Oct Nov-Jan Feb-Apr

R
e

ve
n

u
e

 $

Natural Gas Utility Tax Revenue

FY17 FY16 FY15 FY14 FY13 FY12



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 7 

with the low fuel prices and mild winter weather. Below is a table showing the natural gas tax revenue by fiscal 
year with the dollar and percentage change from the prior year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ComEd electric tax actual revenue for May-July 2016 (FY17) is 10% higher than the same period in 2015. FY16 
at $310,025 is 0.6% greater than $308,147 for FY15. FY15 of $308,147 is $11,309 or 3.5% less than the 
$319,456 revenue for FY14.  The FY14 revenue was $9,178 or 2.8% less than FY13 revenue of $328,634.   
 
Actual telecomm taxes are remitted to the Village by the State; actual receipts lag about 3-4 months from the 
liability period. The FY16 revenue of $222,923 is 18.5% less than the FY15 revenue of $273,612.  In April 2013 
the State notified the Village that a large telecommunications carrier was ordered to seek refunds from the 
states on behalf of customers that were charged telecomm taxes on transactions that were not properly 
taxable under federal and state laws.  Illinois municipalities were advised that a significant portion of the State 
refunds involved proceeds that were distributed to local governments. The Village’s portion of the recovery of 
distributions was $32,792.  While the State recovered these funds over an equal amount each month for a year 
during FY15, the Village reduced its FY14 telecommunications tax revenue by this amount. After this 
adjustment, FY14 revenue is $217,745; $55,867 or 25.7% less than FY13 revenue of $273,612. The FY15 
revenue is $231,348 compared to $217,745 for FY14 (after taking into account the refundable adjustment 
noted above) which represents a 6.2% increase.   
 
Below is a chart showing the telecommunications (from various sources), ComEd electric, and the North Shore 
natural gas utility taxes by fiscal year.  Upon review of this chart, it is clear that all three of these revenue 
sources are well below their pre-2008-2009 amounts. Given the more efficient appliances, consumer 
conservation habits, and the lower price of fuel, projections are that this source will not likely rise to those 
levels in the next five years. 

 
 

North Shore Gas

North Shore Gas

ComEd Electric

ComEd Electric

Telecomm

$140
$150
$160
$170
$180
$190
$200
$210
$220
$230
$240
$250
$260
$270
$280
$290
$300
$310
$320
$330
$340
$350
$360

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

Thousands UTILITY TAX REVENUE
by Type for FY2009-2016

Refund of telecomm taxes due to court ruling

Fiscal 
Year 

Total Natural Gas 
Tax Revenue 

$ Change 
from PY 

% Change 
from PY 

16 $144,777 ($66,851) (32%) 

15 $211,628 ($  6,501)   (3%) 

14 $218,129  $71,057   48% 

13 $147,072  $      128     --- 

12 $146,944 ($24,832)  (14%) 



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 8 

Building Permit revenue for May-August 2016 is $206,428 compared to $225,680 for the same period in 2016.  
This represents $19,252 or 8.5% less revenue in FY17 than FY16 due to a building permit for a residence on 
Ravine Ave with a construction value of $2.48 million which resulted in about $40k more in building permit 
fees in July 2015.  FY15 ended the year 113% more than the receipts for FY14 due to the Target development, 
Heinen’s remodeling of the Dominick’s store and two large residences in Lansdowne.   
 
On the next page is a graph of the building permit revenues since FY09 through FY2016 with an estimate for 
FY2017.   

 
 
Sewer charge revenue for May-August 2016 is $55,665 which is $748 or 0.1% less than May-August 2015 
revenue of $56,403. The sewer charge is billed at the rate of $1.10 per thousand gallons of water used with a 
credit during the billing months of August-October for water presumed for lawn irrigation purposes.    
  
General Fund Expenditures: 
The May-August 2016 expenditures of $2.937 million is $85,431 lower than May-June 2015 due to less capital 
outlay from last year netted against operating increases as anticipated.  A decrease in road repaving 
expenditures this summer accounts for the reduction in the Streets division and Capital category from the 
prior fiscal year-to-date. The Fire department expenditures increase is attributed to a timing difference in the 
payment of the ambulance invoice in the amount of $64,821 for the first quarter FY17 calls.  The FY16 Q1 
invoice for $67,363 was received and paid in December last year.  
 
Interfund transfers are for the Police Pension property taxes, Vehicle Replacement contributions, and the 2012 
Refunding Bonds debt payment. Refunding bond interest is paid in June and December with the principal 
payment in December each year. 
 
Water Sales: 
The Water sales in dollars for May-August 2016 is $422,590 compared to $410,495 ($418,027 less an 
adjustment of $7,532 made in September 2015 applicable to August 2015 revenues) for the same period in 
2015. This difference of $12,095 is attributed to the rate change effective May 1, 2016 from $6.95 to $7.10 per 
thousand gallons of water consumed in the amount of $8,494 and a decrease in billed consumption of 0.513 
mg which accounts for $3,526 of the change in revenue.  Billed consumption was 56.625 million gallons (mg) in 
May-August 2016 compared to 56.112 mg (this includes the adjustment for 1.1 mg that pertained to August 
2015 but is not reflected in the FY16 revenues until September 2015.)     
 

 $200
 $250
 $300
 $350
 $400
 $450
 $500
 $550
 $600
 $650
 $700
 $750
 $800
 $850
 $900
 $950

 $1,000
 $1,050
 $1,100
 $1,150

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

s

BuildingPermit Revenues



August 2016 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 9 

Water Purchases: 
Water purchases for May-August 2016 are 96.188 mg compared to 88.014 mg for May-August 2015. Effective 
May 1, 2016, CLCJAWA increased the wholesale water rate from $2.68 to $2.73 per 1,000 gallons of water 
purchased.  The increase in water purchased during this period of 8.174 mg accounted for $22,315 in cost and 
the rate increase added $4,401 for a total increase of $26,716 in water purchase expense from $235,877 in 
2015 to $262,593 in 2016. 
 
It should be noted that much of the water purchased in July and August will be billed in September-October.   
 
Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Debt Service Funds: 
The revenues and expenditures for these funds are consistent with their specified purpose.  The IMRF and FICA 
funds expenditures are financed by property tax revenues.  The Motor Fuel Tax Fund (MFT) receives 
allotments each month from the state to be used exclusively for roadway improvements.  In FY17 and FY16 all 
road improvements are expensed in the General Fund.  The Redevelopment Fund budget of $250k is for the 
Moffett Road box culvert improvement project.  
 



07-Sep-16

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A1

For the Month Ending August 31, 2016

Beginning Cash Inter-Fund August 2016

Fund Name # Cash Balance Receipts Acct. Pay/EFT Gross Payroll Transfers/ Ending Cash

Pension Benefits

Other 

Transactions Balance

General  1 7,147,717.10 793,018.25 410,080.25 253,965.78 7,276,689.32

IMRF 7 77,505.76 4,171.43 13,025.06 68,652.13

Foreign Fire Tax 10 22,103.38 0.92 1,520.71 20,583.59

Social Security 14 183,733.51 5,313.44 19,021.51 170,025.44

Motor Fuel Tax 29 345,948.69 13,218.34 359,167.03

E911 32 281,289.65 7,093.68 288,383.33

2012 G.O. Bonds 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,458.00 4.30 13,462.30

Capital Improve 42 13,790.94 4.41 13,795.35

Redevelopment 43 72,251.97 22.25 5,145.48 67,128.74

Vehicle Replace 45 970,957.75 348.93 971,306.68

Water Fund 46 911,780.55 105,875.02 108,052.97 16,123.58 893,479.02

Train Wreath 61 1,799.20 0.57 1,799.77

Subtotal 10,043,051.90$       929,071.54$         556,845.98$         270,089.36$        -$                    10,145,188.10$       

Police Pension  (a) 62 8,977,691.77 47,639.29 2,236.41 63,736.64 8,959,358.01

Total 19,020,743.67$       976,710.83$         559,082.39$         333,826.00$        -$                    19,104,546.11$       

(a)  The Police Pension beginning balance was adjusted to reflect the investments at market value as of April 30, 2016.  

      Disbursements

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
10



07-Sep-16

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A2

As of August 31, 2016

Aug 31, 2016

Checking Savings/ Certificates Federal Gov't Mutual Funds Total Cash &

Fund Name # Accounts Money Market IL Funds of Deposit Corporate & Municipal Stocks/Equities Investments

Max Safe LF Bnk (a) Bonds Obligations (a)

General 1 2,308,790.16 0.00 2,499,290.15 2,468,609.01    7,276,689.32

IMRF 7 68,652.13 68,652.13

Foreign Fire Tax 10 20,583.59 20,583.59

Social Security 14 170,025.44 170,025.44

Motor Fuel Tax 29 359,167.03 359,167.03

E911 32 288,383.33 288,383.33

2012 G.O. Bond 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,462.30 13,462.30

Capital Improve 42 13,795.35 13,795.35

Redevelopment 43 67,128.74 0.00 67,128.74

Vehicle Replace 45 703,086.64 268,220.04 971,306.68

Water Fund 46 520,984.96 372,494.06 0.00 893,479.02

Train Wreath 61 1,799.77           1,799.77

Subtotal 2,850,358.71$  -$                 4,558,000.34$  2,736,829.05$  -$                 -$                  10,145,188.10$      

Police Pension 62 37,277.25 452,095.48 -                    2,202,109.67   2,282,439.04 3,985,436.57    8,959,358.01

Total 2,887,635.96$  452,095.48$     4,558,000.34$  2,736,829.05$  2,202,109.67$ 2,282,439.04$  3,985,436.57$  19,104,546.11$      

(a)  The CD's are shown with interest that has been added to the principal balance.  The Police Pension investments are shown at market value as of April 30, 

2016.  The investments have been marked to market as of April 30, 2016 as of this report. The Police Pension Fund is the only fund allowed to invest in equities.

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
11



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF OUTSTANDING INVESTMENTS AS OF AUGUST 31, 2016 7-Sep-16 EXHIBIT B

Vehicle

Certif Interest Purchase Maturity Investment Interest Current General Replace

# Nmbr Amount Rate Date Date Maturities Credited Book Value Fund Fund

NORTHERN TRUST BANK 

35551-5 1,015,362.25 0.095% 09/02/15 09/02/16 $885.65 $1,016,247.90 $1,016,247.90

35549-11 503,178.32 0.075% 02/03/16 08/01/16 (503,364.46) $186.14 ($0.00) ($0.00)

35549-12 503,364.46 0.075% 08/01/16 01/28/17 $503,364.46 $503,364.46

35550-7 505,858.66 0.075% 11/05/15 08/01/16 (506,139.38) $280.72 ($0.00) ($0.00)

35550-8 506,139.38 0.075% 08/01/16 04/28/17 $506,139.38 $506,139.38

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--NORTHERN TRUST BANK $2,025,751.74 $2,025,751.74 $0.00

PRIVATE BANK - LAKE FOREST

52027-13 134,730.55 0.15% 7/8/2014 9/8/2015 (134,970.43) $239.88 ($0.00) ($0.00)

52027-14 134,970.43 0.15% 9/8/2015 11/8/2016 $102.37 $135,072.80 $135,072.80

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--PRIVATE BANK $135,072.80 $135,072.80

LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST

51371-31 460,514.35 0.15% 03/29/15 09/29/15 (460,862.68) $348.33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

51371-32 460,862.68 0.15% 09/29/15 03/29/16 (461,207.49) $344.81 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

51371-33 461,207.49 0.15% 03/29/16 09/29/16 $58.76 $461,266.25 $307,738.84 $153,527.41

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST $461,266.25 $307,738.84 $153,527.41

FIRST BANK & TRUST OF EVANSTON

601724631-16 113,948.63 0.325% 08/05/14 08/06/15 (114,319.52) $370.89 $0.00 $0.00

601724631-17 114,319.52 0.325% 08/06/15 08/05/16 (114,692.63) $373.11 $0.00 $0.00

601724631-18 114,692.63 0.325% 08/06/16 08/06/17 $114,692.63 $114,692.63

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--FIRST BANK/EVANSTON $114,692.63 $0.00 $114,692.63

TOTAL INVESTMENTS -- CURRENT BALANCE $2,736,783.42 $2,468,563.38 $268,220.04

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
Page 12



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C
REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT
For period ending August 31, 2016 FY2016-17

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY15-16
Department Description Total-to-Date 16-17 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Revenues
Property Taxes 1,619,347$    2,925,710$    55.3% 1,537,789$   52.8% 2,910,404$   
Sales Taxes 957,788         2,806,975      34.1% 781,444        28.9% 2,703,840     
Home Rule Sales Tax 249,436         780,825         31.9% 180,325        25.5% 707,840        
North Chicago Sales tax share 1,501             15,000           10.0% -                           --- 6,000            
Utility Taxes 169,417         717,200         23.6% 163,508        22.4% 729,945        
Other Taxes 295,120         785,115         37.6% 353,216        50.0% 707,050        
Vehicle Licenses 126,123         135,250         93.3% 125,944        93.1% 135,250        
Building Permits 206,428         510,000         40.5% 225,680        34.2% 660,000        
Demolition Permits 7,696             20,000           38.5% 9,529            28.7% 33,200          
Other Licenses & Permits 132,715         209,220         63.4% 134,869        71.2% 189,410        
Sewer Charge 55,665           170,000         32.7% 56,403          32.0% 176,000        
Services & Fees 29,950           35,250           85.0% 2,698            9.2% 29,475          
Fines 38,295           99,900           38.3% 34,673          36.5% 95,100          
Interest Earnings 6,539             10,500           62.3% 2,560            21.3% 12,000          
Grants 1,581             146,150         1.1% 1,388            0.5% 297,000        
Sale of Property -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                
Miscellaneous Revenue 165,711         369,674         44.8% 131,199        34.5% 380,402        
Operating Transfers In -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                

Total Revenues 4,063,310$    9,736,769$    41.7% 3,741,225$   38.3% 9,772,916$   

Expenditures
Administration 291,142$       1,387,551$    21.0% 168,334$      12.1% 1,393,173$   
Finance 131,160         615,202         21.3% 136,150        29.0% 470,225        
Community Development 92,825           364,770         25.4% 81,307          24.5% 331,620        
Boards & Commissions 35,041           65,575           53.4% 19,635          27.2% 72,200          
Village Hall 13,940           222,600         6.3% 14,069          12.4% 113,350        
Village Properties/Vacant Land 3,539             7,150             49.5% 1,560            21.8% 7,150            
   Total Administration 567,647$       2,662,848$    21.3% 421,054$      17.6% 2,387,718$   

Police Sworn 1,015,556$    2,978,915$    34.1% 996,165$      35.3% 2,822,935$   
Police Records 181,190         539,083         33.6% 268,592        55.4% 484,583        
Crossing Guards (w/Records) -                 -                            --- 6,780                       --- -                
Fire 170,128         728,160         23.4% 61,961          8.5% 733,149        
Public Safety Building 20,314           92,500           22.0% 21,048          24.6% 85,550          
  Total Public Safety 1,387,188$    4,338,658$    32.0% 1,354,547$   32.8% 4,126,217$   

Streets, Lighting 599,638$       1,364,892$    43.9% 897,958$      46.8% 1,918,100$   
Sanitation 192,858         603,513         32.0% 195,554        32.4% 603,575        
Forestry 46,613           195,145         23.9% 39,771          21.2% 187,827        
Parks/Parkways/Ravines 50,907           201,015         25.3% 42,868          19.3% 222,385        
Sewers 56,383           662,735         8.5% 37,484          7.7% 489,865        
Public Works Facility 17,257           78,000           22.1% 18,613          34.8% 53,525          
Commuter Station 18,838           91,420           20.6% 14,912          16.8% 88,928          
   Total Public Works 982,494$       3,196,720$    30.7% 1,247,160$   35.0% 3,564,205$   

Total Expenditures 2,937,330$    10,198,226$  28.8% 3,022,761$   30.0% 10,078,140$ 

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
13



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C
REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT
For period ending August 31, 2016 FY2016-17

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY15-16
Department Description Total-to-Date 16-17 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Expenditures by Type

Salaries, Benefits, Insurance 1,219,970$    4,153,133$    29.4% 1,165,937$   29.4% 3,963,444$   
Contractual & Commodities 802,361         2,888,305      27.8% 753,913        26.3% 2,870,203     
Interfund Transfers Out 372,201         1,177,218      31.6% 355,378        30.6% 1,159,643     
Contingency -                 200,000         0.0% -                0.0% 200,000        

    Total Operating Expenditures 2,394,532$    8,418,656$    28.4% 2,275,227$   27.8% 8,193,290$   

Capital & Land Acquisition 542,798         1,779,570      30.5% 747,533        39.7% 1,884,850     

Total Expenditures 2,937,330$    10,198,226$  28.8% 3,022,761$   30.0% 10,078,140$ 

FUND NAME: WATER

Revenues

Water Salesb 422,590$       1,258,930$    33.6% 418,027$      30.6% 1,365,120$   
Connection Fees 11,200           22,000           50.9% 14,400          65.5% 22,000          
Meter Sales 4,305             3,000             143.5% 3,438            52.9% 6,500            
Other Fees -                 100                0.0% 50                          ---- 150               
Interest Earnings 1,210             2,000             60.5% 882               44.1% 2,000            
Miscellaneous Revenue 213                450                47.4% 105               23.4% 450               
IRMA Surplus Credit -                 -                        ---- -                         ---- 3,000            

Total Revenues 439,518$       1,286,480$    34.2% 436,903$      31.2% 1,399,220$   

Expenses
Salaries & Benefits 76,350$         267,250$       28.6% 86,776$        33.9% 256,281$      
IMRF -                     21,800           0.0% -                0.0% 25,200          
FICA/Medicare -                     15,400           0.0% -                0.0% 13,900          
Water Purchases 262,593         616,600         42.6% 235,877        37.6% 628,125        
Contractual & Commodities 37,490           112,500         33.3% 26,090          26.9% 96,845          

Debt Interest Paymenta 25,122           220,744         0.0% 26,772          0.0% 219,044        
Contingency -                     50,000           0.0% -                0.0% 50,000          
Interfund Transfers Out -                     15,000           0.0% -                0.0% 15,000          
Capital Equipment -                     375,000                 ---- -                        ---- 300,000        
Capital Infrastructure 8,118             400,000         2.0% 16,562                  ---- 40,000          

Total Expenses before Depreciation 409,673$       2,094,294$    19.6% 392,077$      23.8% 1,644,395$   

Depreciation Expense -                -                
Total Expenses After Depreciation 409,673$       2,094,294$    19.6% 392,077$      23.8% 1,644,395$   

a
Debt principal payment is adjusted from expense to a reduction in the Bonds Payable on the balance sheet in April each year.

b
August 2015 revenues shown above were adjusted in September 2015 by $7,532 due to a billing error.

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
14



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C
REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT
For period ending August 31, 2016 FY2016-17

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY15-16
Department Description Total-to-Date 16-17 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

SPECIAL REVENUE, CAPITAL PROJECTS, DEBT SERVICE FUNDS & POLICE PENSION TRUST

FUND NAME: IMRF

Revenues 85,827$         156,060$       55.0% 81,625$        53.1% 153,790$      
Expenditures IMRF on Water Salaries in Water Fund 52,749$         158,084$       33.4% 53,546$        33.8% 158,250$      

FUND NAME: SOCIAL SECURITY

Revenues 110,194$       199,770$       55.2% 103,259$      53.2% 194,050$      

Expenditures FICA on Water Salaries chg to Wtr Fnd 80,291$         236,648$       33.9% 79,386$        32.3% 245,525$      

FUND NAME: SPECIAL FIRE INS TAX

Revenues 4$                  27,565$         0.0% -$              0.0% 27,415$        
Expenditures 9,764$           31,700$         30.8% -$              0.0% 31,700$        

FUND NAME: MOTOR FUEL TAX

Revenues & Transfers In from General 46,613$         132,545$       35.2% 42,635$        24.9% 171,045$      
Expenditures -$               -$                       ---- -$                         --- -$              

FUND NAME: E911 SURCHARGE

Revenues 20,860$         78,530$         26.6% 27,771$        35.4% 78,530$        
Expenditures 9,873$           52,213$         18.9% 2,381$          1.7% 141,942$      

FUND NAME: VEHICLE/EQUIP REPLACE

Revenues & Transfers In 899$              294,700$       0.3% 12,264$        4.4% 279,300$      
Capital Equipment Expenditures 7,090$           132,000$       5.4% 42,342$        21.7% 194,750$      

FUND NAME: REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

Revenues & Transfers In 90$                5$                  1800.0% 27$               270.0% 10$               
Expenditures 12,150$         250,000$       4.9% -$              0.0% 95,000$        
Revenues from this account are reimbursements for grants for the Route 41/176 Interchange project.

FUND NAME: 2012 REFUNDING BONDS

Revenues & Transfers In from General Fund 10,746$         251,493$       4.3% 11,896$        4.7% 254,293$      
Expenditures - Bond Payments 10,746$         251,743$       4.3% 11,896$        4.7% 254,293$      

FUND NAME: POLICE PENSION TRUST

Additions 452,444$       1,170,100$    38.7% 450,681$      46.2% 976,295$      
Deductions 280,043$       824,750$       34.0% 297,020$      34.9% 851,700$      

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
15



 

 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 8a 

 
 
Subject: 

A REPORT CONCERNING THE ELECTRONIC STORAGE AND 
DISPOSITION OF CERTAIN VILLAGE RECORDS 

  
Action Requested: ACCEPTANCE OF THE REPORT (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
Village Staff continues to work with the Records Management Section of the Illinois State 
Archives to obtain the necessary approval to convert paper records to electronic files and to 
dispose of certain Village records. The Records Management Section of the Illinois State 
Archives is responsible for assisting local government agencies with the disposal of records.  In 
Illinois, no public record may be disposed of without State approval.  Village Staff plan on 
seeking State approval for disposal of 13 boxes of building department files by property address 
(1993 to 2008).  All of these documents have been converted to electronic files. This matter is 
being presented for the Board’s information and if there are no objections, Village Staff will 
coordinate the appropriate disposal of the hard copy of the documents. 
 
Village Staff’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of the Report. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 
 
 
 



 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
                               Agenda Item: 12 

 
Subject: 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING REGULATIONS TO 
ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS FOR PLANNED 
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS 

 

Action Requested: 
 

CONSIDER SECOND READING APPROVAL (Voice Vote) 
 

Originated By: 
 

THE ROANOKE GROUP, LLC (Petitioner) 
 

Referred To:  
 

PLAN COMMISSION AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
In May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group, LLC (Petitioner) seeking: (i) a text 
amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned Mixed-Use Developments (PMD) as 
a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence District (R-5) and the Central Business District (CBD) 
(Text Amendment); and (ii) a special use permit for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit 
multi-family structure and related improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank 
property) to construct and maintain the Development at the Property. 
 

The purpose of PMDs is to allow for modification of underlying use, bulk, space and yard regulations that may 
impose unnecessary rigidities on the proposed development or redevelopment of land that requires an individual, 
planned approach.  The two-phase review process of the PMD Ordinance includes: 
 

a) Optional preliminary public meeting with the PCZBA to obtain feedback on the potential PMD; 
b) Development Concept Plan review public hearing with the PCZBA; 
c) Optional Development Concept Plan review workshop meeting and review by ABR; 
d) Development Concept Plan consideration by the Village Board;  
e) Final Development Plan review public hearings & public meetings with PCZBA and ABR; and 
f) Final Development Plan consideration by the Village Board.  

 

At the conclusion of the August 17th public hearing regarding the text amendment, the PCZBA voted (6-1) to 
recommend the Village Board: (i) approve and adopt the attached ordinance providing for a text amendment 
establishing a process and related regulations for PMDs; and (ii) consider including in the PMD ordinance a 
requirement that two-thirds of the Village Trustees must vote in favor of a proposed PMD if the PCZBA has 
recommended that the proposed PMD be denied.  The PCZBA member who did not vote in favor of the PMD 
ordinance expressed concern with the PMD option as an alternative to the underlying zoning regulations; more 
specifically, the concern was that the PMD draft language did not require the redevelopment of qualifying 
properties to use a PMD approval process.  The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its 
meeting on August 22, 2016.  Village Staff will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the 
Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Text Amendment Ordinance Establishing a PMD Process;  
2. Zoning Application from The Roanoke Group, LLC; 
3.    PCZBA Staff Reports (without attachments) Dated June 10, July 15 and August 12, 2016;  and 
4.    Public Comment Received Since August 23, 2016. 
 

PCZBA’s Recommendation: Approval of the Ordinance. 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consider Second Reading Approval.  
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING REGULATIONS 
TO ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS 

 FOR PLANNED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS 
 

 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees, _________, 2016 

Printed and Published, ___________, 2016 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

   
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF ZONING REGULATIONS 
TO ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS 

 FOR PLANNED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS 
 

  WHEREAS, planned developments are a specific type of zoning relief designed, 
in part, to encourage the flexible and creative development of real property; and, 
 
  WHEREAS, the Village’s Zoning Regulations include a process for the approval 
of planned residential developments and planned commercial developments, but not planned 
developments designed for mixed uses within and adjacent to the Village’s Central Business 
District (“CBD”); and,  
 
  WHEREAS, the Village received an application from The Roanoke Group, LLC.  
to develop the properties commonly known as Central Business District Block Three located in 
the CBD and B residence district (“R-4 District”) with mixed commercial and residential uses 
("Application"); and, 
 
  WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-2-9D1 of the Zoning Regulations, the 
Application requested that the Village amend the text of the Zoning Regulations to establish a 
process and related regulations for the approval of planned mixed-use developments in the 
Village; ("Proposed Amendments"); and,  
 
  WHEREAS, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals 
(“PCZBA”), pursuant to proper notice, conducted a public hearing to consider the Proposed 
Amendments on June 15, July 20 and August 17, 2016, pursuant to Section 10-2-9D2 of the 
Zoning Regulations; and,  
 
  WHEREAS, at the close of the public hearing, pursuant to Section 10-2-9D3 of 
the Zoning Regulations, the PCZBA recommended that the Village Board approve the Proposed 
Amendments as set forth in this Ordinance; and, 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has determined that adoption of the Proposed 
Amendments as set forth in this Ordinance is in the best interests of the Village.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals. 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings and determinations of 
the Board of Trustees. 

Section 2. Public Hearing. 

A public hearing on the Proposed Amendments was duly advertised on May 27, 
2016, in the News-Sun.  The public hearing was commenced by the PCZBA on June 15, 2016. 
On August 17, 2016, the PCZBA recommended that the Board of Trustees adopt the Proposed 
Amendments. 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -3-  
 

Section 3. Amendment to Section 10-1-2 of the Zoning Regulations.    

Pursuant to Section 10-2-9 of the Zoning Regulations, the text of Section 10-1-2 
of the Zoning Regulations is hereby amended to include a new defined term “Planned Mixed 
Development” by inserting the following entry in correct alphabetical order as follows: 

“PLANNED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT” or “PMD”: A tract of 
land which is developed in conformity with Chapter 15 of this 
Title.” 

Section 4. Amendment to the Zoning Use Table. 

 Pursuant to Section 10-2-9 of the Zoning Regulations, Section 10-13-3 of the 
Zoning Regulations is hereby amended to include "Planned Mixed-Use Developments" as a 
special use in the CBD and limited parcels within the R-4 District by inserting the following entry 
in correct alphabetical order, and the footnote in correct numerical order, as follows:   

 

Use Category 
SIC 

Code* 

ZONING DISTRICTS 

P = Permitted Use     S = Special Use 

Residential Commercial/Non-residential 
C-
E 

E-
1 

E-
2 

R-
1 

R-
2 

R-
3 

R-4 R-5 
R-
6 

CBD O&R 
AP-

1 
L-
1 

L-
2 

S R

Planned Mixed-Use 
Developments 

             S14   S14   S        

 
Section 5. Amendment to Create New Chapter 15 of the Zoning 

Regulations.    

Pursuant to Section 10-2-9 of the Zoning Regulations, the text of the Zoning 
Regulations is hereby amended to include a new Chapter 15, entitled “Planned Mixed 
Developments”, which Chapter 15 shall read as follows:  

[TEXT OF NEW CHAPTER 15 BEGINS ON SUBSEQUENT PAGE] 

                                                 
14 A lot in the B residence district (R-4 District) or a lot in the C residence district (R-5 District) may be 
used as part of a Planned Mixed-Use Development pursuant to a special use permit only if (i) the lot is 
adjacent to a lot located in the Central Business District (CBD) and (ii) the lot is part of a development, 
which development is wholly or partially in the CBD. 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -4-  
 

“CHAPTER 15 
 

PLANNED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS (PMDs) 
 
SECTION:  
 
10-15-1 General Provisions 
10-15-2 Procedure 
10-15-3 Standards and Conditions 
10-15-4 Authority to Modify Regulations 
10-15-5 Minor Adjustments and Amendments to Approved Final Plans  
10-15-6 Application Requirements 
 
10-15-1 GENERAL PROVISIONS: 
 
A. Authority:  The Board of Trustees may grant special use permits pursuant to this 

Chapter and Section 10-4-2E of this Code to authorize the development of planned 
mixed-use developments (“PMDs”) in the districts where PMDs are listed as a special 
use in the Village’s Zoning Use Table in Section 10-13-3 of this Code. 
 

B. Purpose:  PMDs are a distinct category of special use. Within a PMD, the traditional 
use, bulk, space, and yard regulations may be modified if they impose unnecessary 
rigidities on the proposed development or redevelopment of a parcel or parcels of land 
that require an individual, planned approach. Through the flexibility of a PMD, the Village 
seeks to achieve the following specific objectives as appropriate and applicable for a 
particular proposed development, among others that will be in the best interests of the 
Village: 
 
1. stimulating creative approaches to mixed use development of land;  

2. providing more efficient use of land;  

3. preserving natural features and providing open space areas and recreation areas 
in excess of those required under standard zoning regulations; 

4. developing and implementing new approaches to the living environment through 
variety in type, design and layout of buildings, transportation systems, and public 
facilities; 

5. unifying buildings and structures through design; 

6. promoting long term planning to allow harmonious and compatible land uses or 
combination of uses with surrounding areas; 

7. promoting environmentally sound development practices; 

8. facilitating residential, commercial, and mixed-used development in harmony with 
the Village’s Comprehensive Plan; 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -5-  
 

9. enhancing the character and vitality of the Village’s central business district in 
harmony with adjacent residential neighborhoods; and 

10. promoting the public health, safety, and welfare. 

 
C. Parties Entitled To Seek PMD Approval: An application for a special use permit to 

permit a PMD may be filed by the owner of, or any person having a binding contractual 
interest in, the subject property. 
 

D. Size of Property: The provisions of this Chapter apply to any project that includes one-
half (0.5) acre or more of total land area. 
 

10-15-2 PROCEDURE: 
 
A. Preliminary Meeting with the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals 

 
An applicant for a special use permit for a PMD is encouraged, but is not required, to 
request to meet with the PCZBA prior to submitting a Development Concept Plan 
pursuant to Subsection 10-15-2.B of this Section to obtain feedback from the PCZBA on 
its potential application for a special use permit for a PMD.  Such meeting shall occur at 
a public meeting of the PCZBA. 
 

B. Development Concept Plan: 
 
1. Purpose. The Development Concept Plan provides an applicant the opportunity 

to submit a plan showing the basic scope, character, and nature of the entire 
proposed PMD without incurring undue initial costs. The initial required public 
hearing is based on the Development Concept Plan, thus permitting public 
consideration of the proposal at the earliest possible stage. Once approved, the 
Development Concept Plan binds the applicant to the following basic elements of 
development: 
 
a. categories of uses to be permitted;  

 
b. general location of land uses;  

 
c. overall maximum intensity of uses;  

 
d. the general architectural style of the proposed development;  

 
e. if applicable, general location and extent of public and private open space 

including pedestrian and recreational amenities;  
 

f. general location of vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems;  
 

g. preliminary staging of development; 
 

h. if applicable, general nature, scope, and extent of public dedications, 
improvements, or contributions to be provided by the applicant; and  
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -6-  
 

i. other elements as may be included in the approved Development 
Concept Plan.  
 

2. Application. An application for approval of a Development Concept Plan shall be 
filed in accordance with the requirements of Section 10-15-6 of this Chapter.  
 

3. Public Hearing. A public hearing shall be set, noticed, and conducted by the 
PCZBA in accordance with Section 10-4-2E of this Title. 
 

4. Action by PCZBA. No later than the second regularly-scheduled and held 
meeting of the PCZBA after the conclusion of the public hearing, the PCZBA 
shall make a recommendation to the Board of Trustees that the Development 
Concept Plan either be approved, be approved subject to modifications, or not be 
approved. The failure of the PCZBA to make its recommendation by the second 
regularly-scheduled and held meeting of the PCZBA after the conclusion of the 
public hearing, or such further time to which the applicant may agree, shall be 
deemed a recommendation for the approval of the Development Concept Plan as 
submitted. 
 

5. Optional Submittal to the Architectural Board of Review. After the conclusion of 
the public hearing by the PCZBA concerning the Development Concept Plan, the 
Applicant may request that the Architectural Board of Review conduct an informal 
workshop meeting for the purpose of providing comments on the Development 
Concept Plan, which meeting, if requested and held, shall take place prior to the 
consideration of the Development Concept Plan by the Village Board. 
 

6. Action by Board of Trustees. Within 60 days after the date of the 
recommendation of the PCZBA, or its failure to act, as provided in Paragraph 4 of 
this Subsection, the Board of Trustees shall consider the recommendation of the 
PCZBA, and then either shall deny the application for approval of the 
Development Concept Plan, shall refer it back to the PCZBA for further 
consideration of specified matters, or, by ordinance duly adopted, shall approve 
the Development Concept Plan, with or without modifications and conditions to 
be accepted by the applicant as a condition of such approval; provided, however, 
that every such ordinance shall be expressly conditioned upon approval of a 
special use permit and Final PMD in accordance with Subsection 10-15-2C of 
this Chapter, and upon the applicant's compliance with all provisions of this Code 
and the ordinance granting the special use permit.  
 

7. Effect of Development Concept Plan Approval. Unless the applicant shall fail to 
meet time schedules for filing a Final Plan or shall fail to proceed with 
development in accordance with the plans as approved or shall in any other 
manner fail to comply with any condition of this Code or any approval granted 
pursuant to it, the Village shall not, without the consent of the applicant, take any 
action to modify, revoke, or otherwise impair an approved Development Concept 
Plan with respect to the elements of development set forth in Paragraph 10-15-
2A1 of this Section pending the application for approval of a Final Plan. In 
submitting such plans, the applicant shall be bound by the approved 
Development Concept Plan with respect to each such element. 
 

 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -7-  
 

 
C. Final Plan: 

 
1. Purpose. The Final Plan is intended to particularize, refine, and implement the 

Development Concept Plan and to serve as a complete, thorough, and 
permanent public record of the planned mixed-use development and the manner 
in which it is to be developed. 
 

2. Application. After approval of the Development Concept Plan, the applicant shall 
file an application for Final Plan approval in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 10-15-6 of this Chapter within one year after the date of such approval or 
in stages as approved in the Development Concept Plan. The application shall 
be in substantial conformity with the approved Development Concept Plan.  If a 
completed application for Final Plan approval has not been properly filed within 
one year after the approval date of the Development Concept Plan, the approval 
of the Development Concept Plan shall be deemed void. 
 

3. Public Hearing. A public hearing to consider the Final Plan shall be set, noticed, 
and conducted by the PCZBA in accordance with Section 10-4-2E of this Code. 
 

4. Coordination with Subdivision Ordinance. When a subdivision of land subject to 
the Village’s Subdivision Ordinance is proposed or required in connection with a 
PMD, review of the subdivision, including without limitation submittal and 
approval of plats of subdivision, shall proceed concurrently with review of the 
PMD and be completed simultaneously with review of and action on the Final 
Plan during the PMD process, and no further public process shall be required for 
the PMD to obtain subdivision approval. 
 

5. Action by PCZBA.  
 
a. Evaluation. Within 60 days after the filing of an application for approval of 

a Final Plan, the PCZBA shall, with such aid and advice of the Village 
staff and consultants as may be appropriate, commence its public hearing 
to review and make its recommendation on the plan. Such review shall 
consider:  
 

i. whether the Final Plan is in substantial conformity with the 
approved Development Concept Plan; and 
 

ii. the merit or lack of merit of any departure of the Final Plan from 
substantial conformity with the approved Development Concept 
Plan; and 
 

iii. whether the Final Plan complies with any and all conditions 
imposed by approval of the Development Concept Plan; and 
 

iv. whether the Final Plan complies with the provisions of this Code 
and all other applicable federal, State, and Village codes, 
ordinances, and regulations. 
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -8-  
 

b. Recommendation of Approval Based on Substantial Conformity. If the 
PCZBA finds substantial conformity between the Final Plan and the 
approved Development Concept Plan and further finds the Final Plan to 
be in all other respects complete and in compliance with any and all 
conditions imposed by approval of the Development Concept Plan and 
with the provisions of this Code and all other applicable federal, State, 
and Village codes, ordinances, and regulations, it shall transmit the plan 
to the Board of Trustees with its recommendation that the Board of 
Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, approve the Final Plan, with or 
without modifications and conditions to be accepted by the applicant as a 
condition of such approval, and shall grant a special use permit 
authorizing the Final Plan of the proposed PMD and such additional 
approvals as may be necessary to permit development of the PMD as 
approved. 
 

c. Recommendation of Approval without Substantial Conformity. If the 
PCZBA finds that the Final Plan is not in substantial conformity with the 
Development Concept Plan but merits approval notwithstanding such lack 
of conformity and otherwise conforms to the requirements of this Code, it 
shall transmit the plan to the Board of Trustees with its recommendation 
that the Board of Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, approve the Final 
Plan, with or without modifications and conditions to be accepted by the 
applicant as a condition of such approval, and shall grant a special use 
permit authorizing the Final Plan of the proposed PMD and such 
additional approvals as may be necessary to permit development of the 
PMD as approved. 
 

d. Recommendation of Denial. If the PCZBA finds that the Final Plan is not 
in substantial conformity with the approved Development Concept Plan 
and does not merit approval, or if the PCZBA requires modifications to the 
Final Plan that are not accepted by the applicant, then the PCZBA shall 
transmit the Plan to the Board of Trustees together with its 
recommendation that the Final Plan not be approved. 
 

e. Failure to Act. The failure of the PCZBA to commence its public hearing 
within 60 days, or such further time to which the applicant may agree, 
shall be deemed to be a recommendation to the Board of Trustees to 
approve the Final Plan as submitted. 
 

6. Action by Architectural Board of Review. No later than 60 days after the 
conclusion of the public hearing by the PCZBA concerning the Final Plan, the 
Architectural Board of Review will conduct a public meeting for the purpose of 
conducting a site plan review pursuant to Section 10-2-8 of this Title concerning 
the Final Plan. Within 30 days after the conclusion of the public meeting, the ABR 
shall make its recommendation to the Board of Trustees that a site plan be 
approved, be approved subject to modifications, or not be approved. The failure 
of the ABR to make its recommendation within 30 days after the conclusion of 
the public meeting, or such further time to which the applicant may agree, shall 
be deemed a recommendation for the approval of the site plan as submitted.  
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -9-  
 

7. Action by Board of Trustees. Within 60 days after the ABR and the PCZBA have 
made their respective recommendations, or their failure to act as provided in 
Subparagraphs 5 and 6, respectively, of this Subsection, the Board of Trustees 
shall proceed as follows: 
 
a. Approval Based on Substantial Conformity. If the PCZBA has 

recommended approval of a Final Plan pursuant to Subparagraph 10-15-
2C5b of this Section, the Board of Trustees shall, unless it specifically 
rejects one or more of the findings of the PCZBA on the basis of 
expressly stated reasons, approve the Final Plan by a duly adopted 
ordinance; or 
 

b. Approval Without Substantial Conformity. In any case other than that 
specified in Subparagraph 10-15-2C7a of this Section, the Board of 
Trustees may, if it finds that the Final Plan merits approval and otherwise 
conforms to the requirements of this Title, approve the Final Plan by a 
duly adopted ordinance; or 
 

c. Referral Back to PCZBA. In any case other than that specified in 
Subparagraph 10-15-2C7a of this Section, the Board of Trustees may 
refer the Final Plan back to the PCZBA for further consideration of 
specified matters; or 
 

d. Conditions on Final Plan Approval. The approval of any Final Plan may 
be granted with or without modifications and conditions to be accepted by 
the applicant as a condition of approval. 
 

8. Recording of Final Plan. When a Final Plan is approved, the Village Administrator 
shall cause the Final Plan and Special Use Permit Ordinance, or the portions 
thereof as are appropriate, to be recorded with the Lake County Recorder. 
 

9. Limitation on Final Plan Approval. Construction shall commence in accordance 
with the approved Final Plan within one year after the approval of such plan, or 
within such time as may be established by the approved development schedule 
pursuant to the Special Use Permit Ordinance. Failure to commence construction 
within such period shall, unless an extension of time shall have been granted by 
the Village Administrator, automatically render void the Final Plan approval and 
all approvals of the planned mixed-use development and all permits based on 
such approvals, and the Village Administrator shall, without further direction, 
initiate an appropriate application to revoke the special use permit for all portions 
of the planned mixed-use development that have not yet been completed. 
 

10. Building and Other Permits. Except as provided in this Paragraph 10-15-2C10, 
appropriate officials of the Village, after receiving notice from the Village 
Administrator that the documents required for Final Plan approval have been 
approved and upon proper application by the applicant, may issue building and 
other permits to the applicant for the development, construction, and other work 
in the area encompassed by the approved Final Plan; provided, however, that no 
permit shall be issued unless the appropriate official is first satisfied that the 
requirements of any codes or ordinances of the Village, in addition to this Code, 
that are applicable to the permit sought, have been satisfied. Building permits 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -10-  
 

may, however, be withheld at the discretion of the Village Administrator or the 
Board of Trustees at any time it is determined that the development of the PMD 
is not undertaken in strict compliance with the approved Final Plan. 
 

10-15-3 STANDARDS AND CONDITIONS 
 
A. Special Use Permit Standards: No special use permit for a PMD shall be 

recommended or granted pursuant to this Section unless the applicant shall establish 
that the proposed PMD meets the standards made applicable to special uses pursuant 
to Subsection 10-4-2E3 of this Code. 
 

B. General Design Standards: No special use permit for a PMD shall be recommended by 
the PCZBA or granted by the Village Board pursuant to this Section unless the applicant 
has established that the proposed PMD meets the following additional standards, to the 
extent practical and applicable to the specific PMD, and except as the Village Board may 
otherwise provide in the ordinance granting a PMD: 
 
1. Comprehensive Plan: The PMD shall not be inconsistent with the planning policies, 

goals, objectives, principles, and provisions of the Village's Comprehensive Plan. 
 

2. Public Welfare: The PMD shall be designed, located, and proposed to be operated 
and maintained so that it will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to 
adjacent property and will not substantially increase the danger of fire or 
otherwise endanger the public health, safety and welfare. 
 

3. Uses: The PMD may include uses permitted in the B residence district (R-4), the C 
residence district (R-5), and the Central Business District (CBD), in addition to other 
uses suitable to the proposed location of the PMD.   
 

4. Impact on Other Property: The PMD shall not be unnecessarily injurious to the use 
or enjoyment of surrounding properties for the purposes permitted pursuant to the 
applicable zoning district, shall not prevent the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding properties for permitted uses, shall not be inconsistent 
with the community character of the neighborhood, shall not alter the essential 
character of the neighborhood or be incompatible with other property in the 
immediate vicinity.  The uses permitted on a PMD must be of a type and so located 
so as to exercise no undue detrimental influence upon surrounding properties. The 
PMD must also address compliance with the Village's noise, lighting, and other 
performance standards.   
 

5. Impact on Public Facilities and Resources: The PMD shall be designed so that 
adequate utilities, road access, drainage, and other necessary facilities will be 
provided to serve the PMD.  
 

6. Archaeological, Historical or Cultural Impact: The PMD shall not substantially and 
adversely affect a known archaeological, historical, or cultural resource located on 
or off of the parcel(s) proposed for development. 
 

7. Parking and Traffic: The PMD shall have or make adequate provision to provide 
ingress and egress to the proposed use in a manner that minimizes traffic 
congestion in the public streets, provides appropriate cross access to adjacent 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -11-  
 

properties and parking areas, and provides adequate access for emergency 
vehicles. Adequate parking shall be provided for the uses permitted in the PMD. 
 

8. Landscaping, Open Space, and Buffering: Consistent with the nature of the 
proposed PMD, the PMD shall provide landscaping, public open space, and other 
buffering features as necessary to reasonably protect uses within the development 
and surrounding properties, including without limitation reasonable and practical 
buffering related to the visual impact of the PMD on surrounding properties. 
 

9. Signage: Signage on the site of the PMD shall generally be in conformity with the 
Village’s Sign Regulations, except as may otherwise be specifically provided in the 
ordinance approving a PMD. 
 

10. Ownership/Control Area: The site of the PMD must be under ownership and/or 
unified control of the applicant. 
 

11. Compliance with Subdivision Regulations and Plat Act: All PMDs, whether or not 
they are by definition subject to the Village's subdivision regulations or the Illinois 
Plat Act, shall comply with all standards, regulations and procedures of the Village's 
subdivision regulations and the Plat Act except as is expressly provided otherwise 
in this Chapter, or as otherwise provided by the Board of Trustees pursuant to 
the ordinance approving the PMD, or the applicable sections of the Village's 
subdivision regulations.  
 

12. Covenants and Restrictions to be Enforceable by Village: All covenants, deed 
restrictions, easements, and similar restrictions to be recorded in connection with 
the PMD, if any, shall provide that they may not be modified, removed, or released 
without the express consent of the Board of Trustees and that they may be 
enforced by the Village as well as by future landowners within the PMD. 
 

13. Security and Site Control: The PMD shall include the plans necessary to describe, 
establish, and maintain appropriate property and building security and site control 
measures for the PMD and the property on which the PMD is located. These plans 
shall also include measures to address adverse impacts on neighboring properties. 
  

14. Integrated Design: A PMD shall be laid out and developed as a unit in accordance 
with an integrated overall design. This design shall provide for safe, efficient, 
convenient and harmonious grouping of structures, uses and facilities, and for 
appropriate relation of space inside and outside buildings to intended uses and 
structural features.  
 

15. Beneficial Common Open Space: To the extent practical, common open space in 
the PMD shall be integrated into the overall design. These open spaces shall have 
a direct functional or visual relationship to the main building(s) and shall not be of 
isolated or leftover character. The following would not be considered usable 
common open space: 
 
a. Areas reserved for the exclusive use or benefit of an individual tenant or 

owner; or reserved for the exclusive use of tenants or owners, but not the 
public. 

 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -12-  
 

b. Dedicated streets, alleys and other public rights-of-way. 
 
c. Vehicular drives, parking, loading and storage areas 

 
d. Irregular or unusable narrow strips of land. 

 
16. Functional and Mechanical Features: Storage areas, trash and garbage retainers, 

machinery installations, service areas, truck loading areas, utility buildings and 
structures, and similar accessory areas and structures shall be accounted for in the 
design of the PMD and enclosed or made as unobtrusive as possible. These 
features shall be subject to such setbacks, special planting or other screening 
methods as shall reasonably be required to prevent their being incongruous with 
the existing or contemplated environment and the surrounding properties. 
 

17. Vehicle Drives, Parking and Circulation: Principal vehicular access shall be from 
dedicated public streets, and access points shall be designed to encourage smooth 
traffic flow with controlled turning movements and minimum hazards to vehicular or 
pedestrian traffic. With respect to vehicular and pedestrian circulation, including 
walkways, interior drives and parking, special attention shall be given to location 
and number of access points to the public streets, width of interior drives and 
access points, general interior circulation, separation of pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic, adequate provision for service by emergency vehicles, sharing of parking 
between uses in the PMD, and arrangement of parking areas that are safe and 
convenient, and insofar as feasible, do not detract from the design of proposed 
buildings and structures and the neighboring properties. Landscaping shall be 
provided to screen parking areas from neighboring properties. 
 

18. Pedestrian and Bicycle Access and Circulation.  PMDs shall emphasize safe, 
efficient, and comprehensive pedestrian-friendly movement and shall further 
emphasize bicycle access and circulation, including without limitation providing 
connections to and from existing bike and walking paths so as to ensure a 
continuous route without gaps or disconnections. 
 

19. Lighting. Lighting for the PMD shall preserve and enhance the “dark at night” 
character of the Village by (i) enabling individuals to view essential detail to permit 
them to undertake their activities at night; (ii) facilitating safety and security of 
persons and property; and (iii) curtailing the degradation of the nighttime visual 
environment.    
  

20. Surface Water Drainage: Special attention shall be given to proper site surface 
drainage so that removal of surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring 
properties or the public storm drainage system. Surface water in all paved areas 
shall be collected at intervals so that it will not obstruct the flow of vehicular or 
pedestrian traffic. 

 
21. Compliance with Tree Regulations. The PMD must comply with all standards, 

regulations and procedures of the Village's tree regulations, as provided in Chapter 
11 of this Title. 
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -13-  
 

22. Compliance with Watershed Development Ordinance. The PMD must comply with 
all standards, regulations, and procedures of the Village's Watershed Development 
Ordinance, Ordinance 2001-16, as it may be amended from time to time. 
 

23. Water and Sewer Service. The PMD must comply with all Municipal Code 
requirements concerning the public water supply and sanitary sewer service 
necessary to serve the PMD. 

C. Conditions: The approval of a Final Plan may be conditioned on such matters as the 
Board of Trustees may find necessary to: (i) prevent or minimize any possible adverse 
effects of the proposed PMD, (ii) ensure compatibility of the various uses that may exist 
within the PMD; or (iii) ensure its compatibility with surrounding uses and development 
and its consistency with the general purposes, goals, and objectives of this Code, the 
Village’s Subdivision Code, and the Village’s Comprehensive Plan. Such conditions shall 
be expressly set forth in the ordinance approving the PMD. Violation of any such 
condition or limitation shall be a violation of this Code and shall constitute grounds for 
revocation of all approvals granted for the planned mixed-use development.  

 
10-15-4 AUTHORITY TO MODIFY REGULATIONS 
 
A. Authority: Subject to the standards and limitations in this Section, the Board of 

Trustees, as part of an approval of any PMD, may modify any provision of this Code or 
of the Village’s Subdivision Ordinance as they apply to an approved PMD, subject to the 
limitations in this Section. 
 

B. Standards: No such modification may be approved unless the Board of Trustees shall 
find that the proposed PMD: 
 
1. Will achieve the purposes for which PMD may be approved pursuant to Section 

10-15-1; 
 

2. Will not violate the general purposes, goals, and objectives of this Code and the 
Village’s Comprehensive Plan;  
 

3. Will result in a development providing amenities to the Village that may not be 
otherwise required under this Code or other applicable Village codes and 
ordinances, including without limitation such things as public art; plazas; 
pedestrian walkways; natural habitats; increased landscaping; buffering or 
screening; enhanced streetscape; enhanced pedestrian and transit supportive 
design; underground parking; and similar features. 

 
C. Other Limitations: In granting any PMD approval pursuant to this Chapter, the Board of 

Trustees shall in no event: 
 

1. Make less stringent any performance standard relating to noise, vibration, smoke 
and particulate matter, odors, toxic and noxious matter, radiation hazards, fire 
and explosive hazards, or heat or glare, that is applicable in the district in which 
the development is to be located or applicable to the particular use by reason of 
the regulations applicable in any district in which it might be located; or 
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -14-  
 

2. Reduce the minimum total lot area requirement by more than 50 percent. This 
limitation does not apply to any minimum lot area per unit requirement.  
 

D. Regulation During And After Completion Of Development:  After a Final Plan has 
been approved, that approved plan will constitute the regulations applicable to the 
subject property, rather than any conflicting provision of this Title. No use or 
development not authorized by the approved plan will be permitted within the planned 
mixed-use development. 

 
10-15-5 MINOR ADJUSTMENTS AND AMENDMENTS TO APPROVED FINAL PLAN  
 
A. Minor Adjustments: During the development of a PMD, the Village Board may 

authorize minor adjustments to an approved Final Plan that appear necessary to, and 
consistent, with proper completion of the development as contemplated by the approval 
ordinance. Such minor adjustments may include, without limitation, the following: 

 
1. Altering the location of any one structure or any part thereof, or any group of 

structures, by not more than five percent of the distance shown on the approved 
Final Plan between such structure or structures and any other structure or any 
vehicular circulation element or any boundary of the planned mixed-use 
development, whichever is less; and 
 

2. Altering the location of any circulation element by not more than five percent of 
the distance shown on the approved Final Plan between such circulation element 
and any structure, whichever is less; and  
 

3. Altering the location of any open space by not more than five percent of the 
distance shown on the approved Final Plan; and 
 

4. Altering any final grade by not more than five percent of the originally planned 
grade; and 
 

5. Altering the location or type of landscaping elements, provided that such minor 
adjustment will not result in the reduction of required landscaping or be 
inconsistent with the nature and type of landscaping required by the approved 
landscape plan.  

 
B. Standards.  Minor adjustments shall be consistent with the intent and purpose of this 

Title and the Final Plan, as approved, shall be the minimum necessary to overcome the 
particular difficulty, and shall not be approved if they would result in a violation of any 
standard or requirement of this Code.  All minor adjustments shall be approved by the 
Board by resolution duly adopted, subject to such review by the Board and other boards 
and commissions of the Village as the Board may deem appropriate.   
 

C. Amendments To Approved Final Plan: Changes or adjustments to a PMD during or 
after completion of a PMD that are not minor adjustments pursuant to Subsections A and 
B of this Section, shall require an amendment to the PMD in the same manner and 
subject to the same procedures and limitations as required for adoption of an initial PMD 
under the terms of this Chapter.   

 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -15-  
 

10-15-6 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS:  
 
A. Minimum Data Requirements for All Applications. All Applications: Every application 

submitted pursuant to this Chapter shall contain at least the following information: 

1. The owner's name and address and the owner's signed consent to the filing of 
the application. Full disclosure of the ownership of all legal and equitable 
interests in the lot is required. 

2. The lot owner's name and address, if different from the owner, and his or her 
interest in the lot. 

3. The names and addresses of all professional consultants, if any, advising the 
owner with respect to the application. 

4. The name and address and the nature and extent of any economic or family 
interest of any officer or employee of the village in the owner, the lot owner, or 
lot. 

5. The addresses and legal description of the lot. 

6. Descriptions and graphic representations of the proposal for which approval is 
being sought and of the existing zoning classification, use, and development of 
the lot and the adjacent area for at least two hundred fifty feet (250') in all 
directions from the lot. The scope and detail of such description shall be 
appropriate to the subject matter of the application, with special emphasis on 
those matters likely to be affected or impacted by the approval being sought in 
the application.  These descriptions and representations shall be provided no 
later than necessary for presentation by the applicant at the public hearing before 
the PCZBA pursuant to Section 10-15-2.A.3 of this Code.  

B. Applications For Development Concept Plan Approval: Every application for 
Development Concept Plan approval shall, in addition to the data and information 
required pursuant to Subsection A of this Section, provide at least ten (10) sets of plans 
and documents of the following: 

1. Development Concept Plan: A plan showing the basic scope, character, and 
nature of the entire PMD including the following information: 

a. Character: Explanation of the character of the PMD and the manner in 
which it has been planned to take advantage of the flexibility of these 
regulations. 

b. Ownership: Statement of present and proposed ownership of all land 
within the project, including present tract designation according to official 
records in offices of the county recorder. 

c. Nature and Type of Uses: Information on the nature and type of uses in 
the PMD and within each building proposed in the PMD. 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -16-  
 

d. Service Facilities: Information on all service facilities and off street parking 
facilities in the PMD. 

e. Preliminary Architectural Drawings: Preliminary architectural drawings for 
all primary buildings shall be submitted in sufficient detail to permit an 
understanding of the style of the development, and the height, number, 
location, and design of the building(s) in the PMD. 

f. Conceptual Site Plan: A conceptual site plan of the proposed PMD, 
including building locations, property lines, setbacks, streets, circulation 
systems for pedestrians, bicycles, and vehicles, open space, landscaped 
areas, parking, existing and proposed tree locations, and recreational 
facilities.  

g. Miscellaneous: Such additional information as may be required by the 
PCZBA 

C. Applications For Final Plan Approval: Every application filed pursuant to this chapter 
shall, in addition to the data and information required in Subsection A of this Section, 
provide the following information: 

1. Detailed Plan: A drawing of the PMD shall be prepared at a scale of not less than 
one inch equals one hundred feet (1" = 100') and shall show such designations 
as proposed streets (public and private), all buildings and their use, common 
open space, recreation facilities, parking areas, service areas and other facilities 
to indicate the character of the proposed PMD. The submission may be 
composed of one or more sheets and drawings and shall include: 

a. Boundary Lines: Bearings and distances. 

b. Easements: Location, width and purpose. 

c. Streets On And Adjacent To The Tract: Street name, right of way width, 
existing or proposed centerline elevations, pavement type, walks, curbs, 
gutters, culverts, etc. 

d. Utilities On And Adjacent To The Tract: Location, size and invert elevation 
of sanitary, storm and combined sewers; location and size of water 
mains; location of gas lines, fire hydrants, electric and telephone lines and 
streetlights; direction and distance to and size of nearest water mains and 
sewers adjacent to the tract showing invert elevation of sewers. 

e. Ground Elevations On The Tract: Show one foot (1') contours, show spot 
elevations at all breaks in grades, along all drainage channels or swales 
and at selected points not more than one hundred feet (100') apart in all 
directions. 

f. Subsurface Conditions On The Tract, If Required By The Village 
Engineer: Location and results of tests made to ascertain subsurface soil, 
rock and ground water conditions; depth to ground water unless test pits 
are dry at a depth of five feet (5'). 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -17-  
 

g. Other Conditions On The Tract: Watercourses, floodplains, wetland 
delineations, marshes, rock outcrop, wooded areas, protected trees as 
designated in the Village’s tree protection regulations at section 10-11-4 
of this title, houses, barns, accessory buildings and other significant 
features, and any federal, state or other non-Village permits required for 
the PMD. 

h. Other Conditions On Adjacent Land: Approximate direction and gradient 
of ground slope, including any embankments or retaining walls; character 
and location of buildings, railroads, power lines, towers and other nearby 
land uses or adverse influences; owners of adjacent platted land; for the 
adjacent platted land refer to subdivision plat by name, recording date 
and number and show approximate percent built up, typical lot size and 
dwelling type. 

i. Zoning On And Adjacent To The Tract: Provide zoning classification on 
and adjacent to the tract. 

j. Proposed Public Improvements: Highways or other major improvements 
planned by public authorities for future construction on or near the tract. 

k. Open Space: To the extent applicable, all lots intended to be dedicated 
for public use or reserved for the use of all lot owners with the purpose 
indicated. 

l. General Location, Purpose And Height: General location, purpose and 
height, in feet and stories, of each building. 

m. Map Data: Name of development, north point and scale, date of 
preparation and acreage of site. 

n. Water Facilities: The preliminary plat shall have depicted on its face all 
lakes, ponds, detention sites, retention sites and dams. This includes 
existing lakes, ponds, detention sites, retention sites and dams or 
proposed lakes, ponds, detention sites, retention sites or dams. If the 
water facility is proposed, the preliminary plat shall be accompanied by 
preliminary engineering plans, including the depth, capacity and relation 
of the water facility to proposed storm drain facilities. 

o. Miscellaneous: Such additional information as may be required by the 
PCZBA. 

p. Final Building Elevations and Floor Plans. Schematic drawings illustrating 
the design and character of the building elevations, types of construction, 
and floor plans for all proposed buildings and structures. The drawings 
shall also include a schedule showing the number, type, and floor area for 
all uses or combinations of uses, and the floor area for the entire 
proposed planned development. 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -18-  
 

q. Traffic Studies: detailed information as required by the Village concerning 
traffic circulation within the PMD and the mitigation of traffic impacts 
created by the PMD on surrounding village, county, and state roads. 

r. Watershed Development Ordinance: information as required by the 
Village to demonstrate compliance with the Village's Watershed 
Development Ordinance. 

2. Final Plat: A final land use and zoning plat, suitable for recording with the county 
recorder of deeds shall be prepared. The purpose of the land use and zoning plat 
is to designate with particularity the land subdivided into conventional lots as well 
as the division of other land not so treated into common open areas and building 
areas. The final land use and zoning plat shall include, but not be limited to: 

a. Legal Description Of Entire Area: An accurate legal description of the 
entire area under immediate development within the PMD. 

b. Subdivision Plat: A subdivision plat of all subdivided lands in the same 
form and meeting all the requirements of a normal subdivision plat. 

c. Legal Description Of Unsubdivided Use Area: An accurate legal 
description of each separate unsubdivided use area, including common 
open space. 

d. Location Of All Buildings To Be Constructed: Designation of the exact 
location of all buildings to be constructed, including minimum setbacks 
from lot lines. 

e. Certificates, Seals And Signatures: Certificates, seals and signatures 
required for the dedication of lands and recording the document. 

f. Tabulations On Separate Unsubdivided Use Area: Tabulations on 
separate unsubdivided use area, if any, including land area and number 
of buildings. 

g. Water Facilities: The location of all lakes, ponds, detention sites, retention 
sites and dams shall be depicted and accurately located on the final plat. 

3. Public Open Space Documents: To the extent applicable, common open space in 
the PMD that is to be dedicated for the use of the public shall be either conveyed 
to a municipal or public corporation, conveyed to a not-for-profit corporation or 
entity established for the purpose of benefiting the owners of the PMD or retained 
by the developer with legally binding guarantees, in a form approved by the 
village attorney, that the common open space will be permanently preserved as 
open area. All land conveyed to a not for profit corporation or like entity shall be 
subject to the right of said corporation to impose a legally enforceable lien for 
maintenance and improvement of the common open space. 

4. Public Facilities: The construction of all public facilities and improvements made 
necessary as a result of the PMD shall either be completed prior to final plat 
approval, or be guaranteed by a security deposit.  



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -19-  
 

5. Security Deposit: The satisfactory installation of the public facilities and 
improvements required to be constructed within the PMD shall be guaranteed by 
a security consistent with the Subdivision Regulations, including, without 
limitation, a letter of credit, in an amount equal to one hundred ten percent 
(110%) of the estimated cost of public facility installations. The balance of the 
security deposit shall not be returned after the completion of the public facility 
installations unless a guarantee security deposit in an amount of ten percent 
(10%) of the total cost of the required facilities is first delivered to the village. 
Such guarantee security deposit shall be maintained for a period of twenty four 
(24) months. 

6. Delinquent Taxes: A certificate shall be furnished from the proper collector that 
all special assessments constituting a lien on the whole or any part of the lot of 
the PMD have been paid. 

7. Covenants: Final agreements, provisions or covenants which will govern the use, 
maintenance and continued protection of the PMD. 

8. Schedule: Development schedule indicating: 

a. Stages in which project will be built with emphasis on area, density, use 
and public facilities such as open space to be developed with each stage. 
Overall design of each stage shall be shown on the plat and through 
supporting graphic material. 

b. Approximate dates for beginning and completion of each stage. 

c. The mix of uses to be built in each stage. 

9. Traffic Mitigation: 

a. All new developments shall be required to provide a traffic study, 
prepared by a qualified traffic engineer, to establish trips generated, 
necessary road and other improvements, and other reasonably necessary 
information relating to traffic impact of the development on village, county 
or state roads. 

b. All developments shall be required to provide an employee traffic 
mitigation plan. The plan will establish specific actions by the owner to 
limit peak hour vehicular traffic generated by the development. These 
actions might include staggered work hours, ridesharing, vanpools, 
rideshare or transit promotion, or preferential parking plan. 

10. Lighting Plans: A final photometric/lighting plan for the proposed PMD including 
technical descriptions and cut sheets for all lighting fixtures. Any permitted 
accessory lighting fixtures shall be designed, arranged, and operated so as to 
prevent glare and direct rays of light from being cast onto any adjacent public or 
private property or street and so as not to produce excessive sky-reflected glare.   



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -20-  
 

11. Landscaping Plans.  A final landscape plan depicting the location, size, 
character, and composition of all trees, landscape materials and other vegetation 
for the PMD. 

12. Facilities Plans: Final plans for: 

a. If applicable, roads including classification, width or right of way, width of 
pavement and typical construction details. 

b. Sanitary sewer system. 

c. Storm drainage system. 

d. Water supply system. 

D. Modification or Waiver of Application Requirements. Upon written request of the 
applicant, the Village Administrator may modify the requirements to submit any plans or 
documents required pursuant to this Section 10-15-6, provided that no required 
submittals may be waived without the prior review and approval of the PCZBA and 
Village Board.” 

[END OF NEW CHAPTER 15] 
 



PCZBA Recommendation Draft 8.19.16 

 -21-  
 

Section 6. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication in pamphlet form in the manner provided by law. 
 
PASSED this ____ day of ______, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 

AYES:   

NAYS:    

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this ____ day of ______, 2016. 
 
 
             
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:  August 22, 2016 

SECOND READING:       

PASSED:        

APPROVED:        

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:      

 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



















VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:   Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
   
FROM:  Brandon Stanick, Asst. to the Village Administrator 
 
DATE:  June 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Agenda Item #3: Public Hearing to Consider a Text Amendment Establishing Planned 

Mixed-Use Development Regulations and a Proposal to Redevelop the Property Located 
at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank property) 

 
Summary and Background Information 
 
In May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group (Petitioner) seeking:  
 

i. a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned Mixed-Use 
Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence District (R-
5) and the Central Business District (CBD);  

ii. a special use permit for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit multi-
family structure and related improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former 
PNC Bank property); and  

iii. any other zoning relief as required to construct and maintain the Development at the Property.   
 
A public hearing for the PCZBA to consider the proposed draft PMD ordinance and the Development is 
scheduled for June 15, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. (Village Hall Board Room).  
 
Conceptual Development Plan  
The Petitioner’s application seeks approval to construct a planned development on a 0.76 (33,000 sq. ft.) 
parcel in Block Three of the Central Business District commonly known as the former PNC Bank property.  
The application proposes a three story, 16 unit multi-family building with the third story set back from the 
second story building wall and fully-enclosed grade level parking for 32 spaces.  The Development also 
proposes vehicular access off of Oak Avenue and Evanston Avenue with a permeable paver drive along 
the full length of the north side of the Property.  According to the overall site plan, no existing trees will 
remain.  Also, attached is a memorandum from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen dated June 8, 2016 
responding to the results of the Petitioner’s traffic study (by KLOA, Inc.) and stormwater requirements. 
A chart comparing the Development to the Village’s zoning regulations for CBD and R-4 Residence 
District is attached.  
 
Planned Mixed-Use Development Regulations 
Attached to this memorandum is a proposed draft ordinance amending the Village’s Zoning Code 
establishing a process and related regulations for the approval of PMDs prepared by Village legal counsel. 
Consistent with existing planned development regulations in the Village’s Zoning Code, the draft PMD 
regulations include: 
 
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 General Provisions 
 Procedure 
 Standards and Conditions 
 Authority to Modify Regulations 
 Adjustments and Amendments to Approved Final Plans 
 Application Requirements.  

 
In summary, the draft PMD regulations include a two-phase review process with a required site plan 
review by the Architectural Board of Review following Final Plan approval considered by the PCZBA.  
As the PCZBA is aware, traditional use, bulk, space and yard regulations may be relaxed to achieve 
Village objectives including, but not limited to, creative approaches to mixed-use development of land 
through the planned development process.   
 
Recommendation 
Should the PCZBA want to further consider the Development, it is recommended they consider the 
Petitioner’s responses to the Text Amendment Guiding Principles (to consider the draft PMD regulations), 
as well as the following Standards and Conditions (Section 10-15-3) outlined in the draft PMD regulations 
(to consider conceptual development plan approval):  
 

1. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 
2. Public Welfare 
3. Land Uses 
4. Impact on Other Property 
5. Impact on Public Facilities and Resources 
6. Archaeological, Historical or Cultural Impact 
7. Parking and Traffic  
8. Landscaping, Open Space and Buffering 
9. Signage 
10. Ownership/Control Area 
11. Compliance with Subdivision Regulations and Plat Act 
12. Covenants and Restrictions to be Enforced by the Village 
13. Security and Site Control 
14. Integrated Design 
15. Beneficial Common Open Space 
16. Functional and Mechanical Features 
17. Vehicle Drives, Parking and Circulation 
18. Pedestrian and Bicycle Access and Circulation 
19. Lighting 
20. Surface Water Drainage 
21. Compliance with Tree Regulations 
22. Compliance with Watershed Development Ordinance 
23. Water and Sewer Service 

 
Attachments 

 Petitioner’s Application Materials;  
 Draft PMD Regulations;  
 Memorandum Dated June 8, 2016 from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen Concerning Traffic and 

Stormwater; 



 Zoning Analysis of the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment; and  
 Public Comment Regarding the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment and Future Downtown 

Redevelopment.  
 

If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum please feel 
free to contact me at 847-283-6889. 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:   Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
   
FROM:  Brandon Stanick, Asst. to the Village Administrator 
 
DATE:  July 15, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Agenda Items #4 & #5: Public Hearing to Consider a Proposal to Redevelop the 

Property Located at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank property) and a Text 
Amendment Establishing Planned Mixed-Use Development Regulations 

 
Summary and Background Information 
 
In May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group (Petitioner) seeking:  
 

i. a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned Mixed-Use 
Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence District (R-
5) and the Central Business District (CBD) (Text Amendment);  

ii. a special use permit for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit multi-
family structure and related improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former 
PNC Bank property); and  

iii. any other zoning relief as required to construct and maintain the Development at the Property.   
 
At its meeting on June 15, 2016 the PCZBA commenced with the public hearing to consider the proposed 
draft PMD ordinance and the proposed Conceptual Development Plan.  This included a presentation from 
the Developer, comments from the public and a discussion among the Members of the PCZBA.  At its 
upcoming meeting on July 20th (7:00 p.m. in the Village Hall Board Room) the PCZBA will: i) receive a 
presentation from the Petitioner, take additional testimony, but will NOT vote on a recommendation to 
the Village Board regarding the proposed Development; and ii) take additional testimony and anticipates 
voting on a recommendation to the Village Board regarding the proposed Text Amendment.  
 
Conceptual Development Plan  
The Petitioner’s application seeks approval to construct a planned development on a 0.76 (33,000 sq. ft.) 
parcel in Block Three of the Central Business District commonly known as the former PNC Bank property.  
The application proposes a three story, 16 unit multi-family building with the third story set back from the 
second story building wall and fully-enclosed grade level parking for 32 spaces.  The Development also 
proposes vehicular access off of Oak Avenue and Evanston Avenue with a permeable paver drive along 
the full length of the north side of the Property.  According to the overall site plan, no existing trees will 
remain.  Also, a memorandum from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen dated June 8, 2016 was prepared to 
respond to the results of the Petitioner’s traffic study (by KLOA, Inc.) and stormwater requirements. A 
chart comparing the Development to the Village’s zoning regulations for CBD and R-4 Residence District 
was previously provided to the PCZBA.  
 
 
 



Planned Mixed-Use Development Regulations 
Attached to this memorandum is a proposed draft ordinance amending the Village’s Zoning Code 
establishing a process and related regulations for the approval of PMDs prepared by Village legal counsel. 
Consistent with existing planned development regulations in the Village’s Zoning Code, the draft PMD 
regulations include: 
 

 General Provisions 
 Procedure 
 Standards and Conditions 
 Authority to Modify Regulations 
 Adjustments and Amendments to Approved Final Plans 
 Application Requirements.  

 
In summary, the draft PMD regulations include a two-phase review process with a required site plan 
review by the Architectural Board of Review following Final Plan approval considered by the PCZBA.  
As the PCZBA is aware, traditional use, bulk, space and yard regulations may be relaxed to achieve 
Village objectives including, but not limited to, creative approaches to mixed-use development of land 
through the planned development process.   
 
Recommendation 
Should the PCZBA want to further consider the Development, it is recommended they consider the 
Petitioner’s responses to the Text Amendment Guiding Principles (to consider the draft PMD regulations), 
as well as the following Standards and Conditions (Section 10-15-3) outlined in the draft PMD regulations 
(to consider conceptual development plan approval):  
 

1. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 
2. Public Welfare 
3. Land Uses 
4. Impact on Other Property 
5. Impact on Public Facilities and Resources 
6. Archaeological, Historical or Cultural Impact 
7. Parking and Traffic  
8. Landscaping, Open Space and Buffering 
9. Signage 
10. Ownership/Control Area 
11. Compliance with Subdivision Regulations and Plat Act 
12. Covenants and Restrictions to be Enforced by the Village 
13. Security and Site Control 
14. Integrated Design 
15. Beneficial Common Open Space 
16. Functional and Mechanical Features 
17. Vehicle Drives, Parking and Circulation 
18. Pedestrian and Bicycle Access and Circulation 
19. Lighting 
20. Surface Water Drainage 
21. Compliance with Tree Regulations 
22. Compliance with Watershed Development Ordinance 
23. Water and Sewer Service 



Attached Documents 
 Site Plan and Elevations Provided by Petitioner Showing Allowable Development Compared to 

Proposed Development; 
 Section 5.01 Landscape Plan;  
 Draft PMD Regulations; and 
 Community Petition with Signatures.  

 
Documents Previously Provided 

 Petitioner’s Application Materials;  
 Draft PMD Regulations;  
 Memorandum Dated June 8, 2016 from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen Concerning Traffic and 

Stormwater; 
 Zoning Analysis of the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment; and  
 Public Comment Regarding the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment and Future Downtown 

Redevelopment.  
 

If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum please feel 
free to contact me at 847-283-6889. 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:   Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
   
FROM:  Brandon Stanick, Asst. to the Village Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 12, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Agenda Items #6 & #7: Public Hearing to Consider a Proposal to Redevelop the 

Property Located at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank property) and a Text 
Amendment Establishing Planned Mixed-Use Development Regulations 

 
Summary and Background Information 
 
In May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group (Petitioner) seeking:  
 

i. a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned Mixed-Use 
Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence District (R-
5) and the Central Business District (CBD) (Text Amendment);  

ii. a special use permit for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit multi-
family structure and related improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former 
PNC Bank property); and  

iii. any other zoning relief as required to construct and maintain the Development at the Property.   
 
At its meetings on June 15 and July 20, 2016 the PCZBA held public hearings to consider the proposed 
draft PMD ordinance and the proposed Conceptual Development Plan.  To date, the public hearing process 
has included: presentations from the Developer, comments from the public and discussions among the 
Members of the PCZBA regarding the Text Amendment and the proposed Development.  On August 17th 
the PCZBA will continue its discussion regarding the proposed Text Amendment and anticipates voting 
on a recommendation to the Village Board.  Further, the Petitioner has requested the PCZBA continue the 
public hearing regarding the Development to its September 21, 2016 meeting.  
 
Conceptual Development Plan  
The Petitioner’s application seeks approval to construct a planned development on a 0.76 (33,000 sq. ft.) 
parcel in Block Three of the Central Business District commonly known as the former PNC Bank property.  
The application proposes a three story, 16 unit multi-family building with the third story set back from the 
second story building wall and fully-enclosed grade level parking for 32 spaces.  The Development also 
proposes vehicular access off of Oak Avenue and Evanston Avenue with a permeable paver drive along 
the full length of the north side of the Property.  According to the overall site plan, no existing trees will 
remain.  Also, a memorandum from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen dated June 8, 2016 was prepared to 
respond to the results of the Petitioner’s traffic study (by KLOA, Inc.) and stormwater requirements. A 
chart comparing the Development to the Village’s zoning regulations for CBD and R-4 Residence District 
was previously provided to the PCZBA.  
 
 
 



Planned Mixed-Use Development Regulations 
Attached to this memorandum is an updated draft ordinance amending the Village’s Zoning Code 
establishing a process and related regulations for the approval of PMDs prepared by Village legal counsel 
that reflects the discussion of the PCZBA on July 20th. Also, provided for the PCZBA’s information, is a 
memorandum dated August 11, 2016 from Village Attorney Peter Friedman regarding the proposed PMD 
Text Amendment. 
 
Consistent with existing planned development regulations in the Village’s Zoning Code, the draft PMD 
regulations include: 
 

 General Provisions 
 Procedure 
 Standards and Conditions 
 Authority to Modify Regulations 
 Adjustments and Amendments to Approved Final Plans 
 Application Requirements.  

 
In summary, the draft PMD regulations include a two-phase review process with a required site plan 
review by the Architectural Board of Review following Final Plan approval considered by the PCZBA.  
As the PCZBA is aware, traditional use, bulk, space and yard regulations may be relaxed to achieve 
Village objectives including, but not limited to, creative approaches to mixed-use development of land 
through the planned development process.   
 
Recommendation 
Should the PCZBA want to further consider the Development, it is recommended they consider the 
Petitioner’s responses to the Text Amendment Guiding Principles (to consider the draft PMD regulations), 
as well as the following Standards and Conditions (Section 10-15-3) outlined in the draft PMD regulations 
(to consider conceptual development plan approval):  
 

1. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 
2. Public Welfare 
3. Land Uses 
4. Impact on Other Property 
5. Impact on Public Facilities and Resources 
6. Archaeological, Historical or Cultural Impact 
7. Parking and Traffic  
8. Landscaping, Open Space and Buffering 
9. Signage 
10. Ownership/Control Area 
11. Compliance with Subdivision Regulations and Plat Act 
12. Covenants and Restrictions to be Enforced by the Village 
13. Security and Site Control 
14. Integrated Design 
15. Beneficial Common Open Space 
16. Functional and Mechanical Features 
17. Vehicle Drives, Parking and Circulation 
18. Pedestrian and Bicycle Access and Circulation 
19. Lighting 



20. Surface Water Drainage 
21. Compliance with Tree Regulations 
22. Compliance with Watershed Development Ordinance 
23. Water and Sewer Service 

 
Attached Documents 

 Memorandum Dated August 11, 2016 from Village Attorney Peter Friedman Regarding the 
Proposed PMD Text Amendment;  

 August 17, 2016 Draft of the Proposed PMD Text Amendment; and 
 Public Comment Regarding the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment and Future Downtown 

Redevelopment Received August 8 and 12, 2016. 
 
Documents Previously Provided 
 
June 15, 2016 PCZBA Meeting: 

 Petitioner’s Application Materials;  
 Draft PMD Regulations;  
 Memorandum Dated June 8, 2016 from Village Engineer Jeff Hansen Concerning Traffic and 

Stormwater; 
 Zoning Analysis of the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment; and  
 Public Comment Regarding the Proposed Block Three Redevelopment and Future Downtown 

Redevelopment.  
 
July 20, 2016 PCZBA Meeting:  

 Site Plan and Elevations Provided by Petitioner Showing Allowable Development Compared to 
Proposed Development; 

 Section 5.01 Landscape Plan;  
 Draft PMD Regulations; and 
 Community Petition with Signatures.  

 
If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum please feel 
free to contact me at 847-283-6889. 



 

ATTACHMENT 4 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

RECEIVED SINCE 

AUGUST 23, 2016 

















VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             Agenda Item: 13  
 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS 
TO THE CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
BUILDING AT 200 ROCKLAND ROAD 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
The Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (CLCJAWA) is proposing to make exterior changes to their 
building at 200 Rockland Road as part of a project to replace the ozone generating equipment inside the plant.  The 
exterior changes include vent louvres, acoustical hoods over some vents, and sound walls by the rooftop chiller and the 
backwash blower.  In a separate project, a new rooftop air conditioner is proposed. 
 
Bill Soucie, Operation Director for CLCJAWA, appeared at the July 12 and September 6 Architectural Board of Review 
(ABR) meetings.  At the July 12 meeting, the ABR voted 4-0 to recommend site plan approval for the rooftop air 
conditioning unit and also voted 4-0 on a separate motion to recommend approval for the building alterations related to 
the ozone generating equipment project. 
 
Subsequent to the July 12 meeting, CLCJAWA received a report from an acoustical engineer that they had engaged to 
measure noise levels; the report indicated that the water plant does not comply with all of the noise standards of the 
Illinois Pollution Control Board and that revisions to the project design would be necessary to bring the water plant into 
compliance.  Mr. Soucie and Darrell Blenniss Jr (Executive Director of CLCJAWA) returned to the ABR on September 6 
and presented a revised design that their acoustical engineer has advised will comply with the State noise standards. The 
new design is described in the attached August 28, 2016 letter from CLCJAWA and includes two steel sound walls to 
deflect sound from a rooftop chiller and the backwash blowers, acoustical hoods over some louvres, and the relocation of 
some vents to the rooftop. CLCJAWA will hire a different acoustical engineer to measure noise levels at the completion 
of the project to verify that the water plant is in compliance. At the September 6 meeting, the ABR voted on one motion to 
recommend site plan approval for the two steel sound walls and on a separate motion to recommend approval of the other 
proposed changes, including the vent louvres, acoustical hoods, and rooftop fans and vents.  Each motion was approved 
by a vote of 6-0. 
 
Bill Soucie as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving A Site Plan For Exterior Alterations to the Central Lake County Joint Action 

Water Agency Building at 200 Rockland Road 
2. Two photo illustrations showing proposed rooftop air conditioner 
3. Letter from JAWA dated August 28, 2016; and 
4. A copy of the September 6, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 

ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-  
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN  
FOR EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS TO THE  

CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY BUILDING 
 

(200 Rockland Road) 
 

 WHEREAS, Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (“Applicant”), is the 
owner of that certain property located at 200 Rockland Road within the Village’s “S” Service 
Zoning District (“Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is improved with a building used for operation of the 

Applicant’s Water Treatment Facility (“Facility”); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to complete certain improvements to the 

Property relating to the exterior elevations of the Facility and the installation of rooftop air 
conditioning and related equipment at the Facility (collectively, the “Improvements”), all as 
reflected in the site plan attached as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and  
 
  WHEREAS, on July 12, 2016 and September 6, 2016, pursuant to Sections 10-
7C-9 and 10-2-8 of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the Lake Bluff Architectural Board of 
Review conducted a public hearing and recommended that the President and Board of Trustees 
approve the Site Plan; and  
 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in the 
best interest of the Village to approve the Site Plan in accordance with, and subject to, the 
conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Resolution; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Resolution 
as findings of the Village Board. 

 
Section 2. Public Hearing. 
 
A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for approval of the Site Plan 

was duly noticed pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Village's Zoning Regulations and held by 
the Architectural Board of Review on July 12, 2016 and September 6, 2016, on which date the 
Architectural Board of Review recommended that the Village Board approve the Site Plan. 

 
Section 3. Approval of the Site Plan. 
 
In accordance with the standards and procedures in Section 10-2-8D of the 

Zoning Regulations, and subject to and contingent upon the conditions in Section 4 of this 
Resolution, the Site Plan, consisting of 9 pages prepared by the Applicant and dated August 28, 
2016, and two pages showing the proposed rooftop air conditioning unit, all of which are 



-2- 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A, is approved pursuant to 
Subsection 10-2-8C of the Zoning Regulations and the home rule powers of the Village. 

 
Section 4. Conditions. 
 
The approval granted in Section 3 of this Resolution is subject to and contingent 

upon each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 
 

A. Compliance with Site Plan  The development, use, and maintenance of 
the Property must be in strict compliance with the Site Plan. In the event of any conflict between 
the Site Plan and the Original Site Plan as to the Revised Improvements, the Site Plan shall 
control. 

 
B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 

requirements of this Resolution, the Property must comply at all times with all applicable federal, 
state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including 
without limitation the Village's building, electrical, and fire prevention codes. 

 
C. Verification of Compliance with State Noise Requirements. Upon 

completion of the Improvements to the Facility, Applicant will promptly provide the Village with 
written verification from an acoustical engineer that the Facility is in compliance with all 
applicable State of Illinois requirements concerning the generation of noise. 

 
D. Selection of Paint Color for Sound Wall. Applicant agrees that, prior to 

painting of the exterior of the new sound wall to be constructed as depicted in the Site Plan, the 
Applicant will invite the ABR’s designated representatives to visit the Facility and view color 
samples held against the building. The Applicant will then paint the sound wall with the paint 
color that such representative(s) of the ABR conclude, in their sole discretion, is compatible with 
the existing exterior color of the Facility. 
 

 Section 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 
 
Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant to comply with any or all of the conditions, 

restrictions, or provisions of this Resolution, the Site Plan, or the Zoning Regulations, the 
approval of the Site Plan granted in Section 3 of this Resolution may, at the sole discretion of 
the Village Board, by resolution duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

 
Section 6. Effect of Approval. 
 
Pursuant to Section 10-2-8E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the approval 

granted pursuant to Section 3 of this Resolution shall not authorize the establishment or 
extension of any use, nor the development, construction, reconstruction, alteration, or moving of 
any buildings or structures, but shall merely authorize the preparation, filing, and processing of 
applications for any permits or approvals that may be required by the codes and ordinances of 
the Village, including, without limitation, building permits. 

 
Section 7. Amendments to the Site Plan. 
 
Any amendments to the Site Plan may be granted only pursuant to the 

procedures, and subject to the standards and limitations, provided in the Zoning Regulations. 
 



-3- 

Section 8. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. passage by the President and Board of Trustees in the manner required 
by law; and  

ii. the filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the Office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional agreement 
and consent, signed by the Applicant, to accept and abide by each and all 
of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in this Resolution.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be in the form of Exhibit B 
attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this Resolution. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk a fully 
executed copy of the unconditional agreement and consent required pursuant to paragraph 
8.A.ii of this Resolution within 60 days after the date of passage of this Resolution by the 
President and Board of Trustees, then, at the option of the President and Board of Trustees by 
resolution duly adopted, this Resolution shall be of no force or effect and shall be rendered null 
and void. 

 
PASSED this ___ day of ______________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  () 
  
NAYS:  () 
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
APPROVED this ___ day of _____________, 2016. 
 
        

Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________ 
Village Clerk 

#47965466_v1 



 

Exhibit A 

Site Plan 



 

Exhibit B 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

 WHEREAS, Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (“Applicant”), is the 
owner of that certain property located at 200 Rockland Road within the Village’s “S” Service 
Zoning District (“Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is improved with a building used for operation of the 

Applicant’s Water Treatment Facility (“Facility”); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to complete certain improvements to the 

Property relating to the exterior elevations of the Facility and the installation of rooftop air 
conditioning and related equipment at the Facility (collectively, the “Improvements”), all as 
reflected in the site plan attached as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and  
 
  WHEREAS, on July 12, 2016 and September 6, 2016, pursuant to Sections 10-
7C-9 and 10-2-8 of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the Lake Bluff Architectural Board of 
Review conducted a public hearing and recommended that the President and Board of Trustees 
approve the Site Plan; and  

 
WHEREAS, Resolution No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2016, (“Resolution”) approves the 
requested Site Plan for the Property, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, 
and provisions; and 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Resolution provides, among other things, that 
the Resolution will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Resolution, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Resolution; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Resolution. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Resolution, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Facility and the Property, including, without 
limitation, the Site Plan approved in the Resolution, and that the Village’s issuance of any such 
permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant 
against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Facility or the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Resolution. 



 

Dated: ____________, 20__.  
 
ATTEST:      CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT WATER 

ACTION AGENCY 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        

 
 
 
 







 

 
 
Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency 

 

 

August 28, 2016 

 

Michael Croak 
Village of Lake Bluff 
40 E. Center Avenue 
Lake Bluff, IL 60044 

 

Dear Mr. Croak: 

 

The Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (CLCJAWA) is requesting an appearance                         
before the Lake Bluff Architectural Board of Review (ABR) to consider two items.  

 

We are replacing our ozone disinfection system as a scheduled project in our capital                           
improvement program. The ARB recently approved appearance changes to our east and                       
south elevations in order to accommodate the new equipment. However, the approved                       
building changes no longer represent what is now being planned.  

 

During the building permit process and subsequent to the ABR review, it was determined                           
that CLCJAWA was out of compliance with Illinois sound emission standards (Title                       
35:H:I:901.102) in some octave bands and at certain times of the day. It was also                             
determined by our acoustical consultant using noise prediction software, that the new ozone                         
system would also exceed standards. As a result, changes are required to the building's                           
appearance to achieve compliance. 

 

1. Noise Barrier Sound Remediation         
for Existing Equipment 

 

Backwash Blower Room Inlets/Outlet  

This area is located on the south side of                 
the main building. It would be wrapped             
with a 17’ long by 9’ wide by 11’ tall sound                     
wall that also contains a double door for               
access. It is shown at the top of the image                   
in red. 

 

Roof Top Chiller 

The chiller unit on the roof of our Residual                 
Solids Processing Building requires a         
sound barrier wall. The proposed wall           
would wrap around the east and south             

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 

sides of the unit and would be perforated inside                 
to absorb sound. The wall would be             
approximately 20 feet long by 12 feet wide by 8                   
feet tall. An approximate depiction of the wall is                 
shown at the bottom of the image in red. 

 

Both sound walls will be composed of painted               
steel and will be perforated inside to absorb               
sound. CLCJAWA would prefer to use a color               
similar to that shown in the picture on the                 
right.  

 

2. Required Design Changes for Ozone           
System Sound Compliance 

 

East and South Elevations 

The number of previously       
approved louvers has     
been reduced in order to         
direct the sound that       
would have spilled from       
them, through the roof       
and towards the sky.       
Other louvers will be       
shielded with acoustical     
hoods that will extend       
from the wall and direct         
sound downwards   
towards the ground. The       
pictures on this page       
show the existing louvers.       
The top photo is of the           
building’s east elevation.     
The bottom photo is the         
building’s south elevation.  

 

The next page depicts       
the proposed louvers and       
hoods on a drawing. The         
hoods are shown as dark         
rectangles. They will be       
colored to match existing       
building details. Their size       
is dictated by the required         
air inlet or exhaust for         
each piece of equipment       
or area that they serve.         
The two hoods on the right of the drawing will be 66 inches wide, 87 inches tall and will                                     
extend 57 inches from the wall. The two hoods on the left of the drawing are 44 inches                                   
wide, 65 inches tall and will extend 35 inches from the wall. 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

 

 

Roof Fans 

Fans that previously vented out of the east elevation will be                     
relocated to the roof. It is the desire of CLCJAWA not to provide a                           
visual barrier for these fans because of the numerous additional roof                     
penetrations that will be required, maintenance, wind load concerns,                 
appearance and cost. This fans can be ordered with a powder                     
coating. Based on previous ABR preferences, we would recommend                 
concrete gray or similar color.  

 

In order to assess the appearance of these fans alone or the fans obstructed with a screen                                 
wall, the following images are presented. The first image depicts an aerial view of the water                               
treatment facility and the location of the needed fans (and visual barriers if required by the                               
ABR). The bottom of the picture faces north.  

 

Two roof mounted fans will be approximately 6.5 feet wide, 6.5 feet long and 4 feet tall.                                 
The third will be 7.5 feet wide, 7.5 feet long and 4 feet tall. 

 

Each vision barrier wall would be approximately 5 feet tall, 17 feet long and will be located                                 
on the east, north, and south sides of each fan. The size of the screen walls is larger than                                     
the equipment to allow maintenance access. If required by the ABR, the color would be as                               
requested by the ABR. 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

Existing CloseUp View from Driveway (With employees standing in approximate fan area) 

 

 

 

 

Proposed CloseUp View from Driveway (Fans Alone) 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

CloseUp View from Driveway with Screened Fans 

 

Existing East Elevation View (With employees standing in approximate fan area) 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

Proposed East Elevation View (Fans Alone) 

 

East Elevation View with Screened Fans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

 

Existing North Elevation Bike Path View  (With employees standing in approximate fan area) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed North Elevation Bike Path View (Fans Alone) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



 

 

North Elevation Bike Path View with Screened Fans 

 

 

 

Paul M. Neal Water Treatment Facility  200 Rockland Road  Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

Phone  847.295.7788     FAX  847.295.6853 Web  www.clcjawa.com 



V I L L A G E  O F  L A K E  B L U F F  
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:  Chairman Hunter and Members of the Architectural Board of Review  
 
FROM: Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
 
DATE:  September 6, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item #6 -- A Public Hearing to Consider a Site Plan to Review Exterior Alterations to 

the Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency Building at 200 Rockland Road 
 

 
Bill Soucie of the Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (CLCJAWA) appeared before the ABR at the 
July 12 meeting and received a favorable recommendation for the proposed building alterations.  Since then 
CLCJAWA has had a sound engineer measure the existing noise levels outside the water plant and found they aren’t 
in compliance with State standards.  Therefore, they have submitted a revised design that will bring the plant into 
compliance.  
 
The proposed revisions include a 17’ long by 9’ tall sound wall on the south side of the building, an 8’ tall sound 
wall on the roof of the Solids Processing Building, and the re-location of some vents from the walls to the roof. 
 
Recommendation: 
It is recommended the ABR conduct a public hearing to consider modification to the site plan, appropriately question 
the Petitioner as needed, entertain public comments and questions from the petitioner and make one of the following 
recommendations regarding the site plan: 
 

 Recommend that the Village Board approve  the proposed site plan as presented or with conditions; 
 Recommend that the Village Board deny the proposed site plan; or 
 Request the petitioner to provide additional information for the ABR’s consideration. 

 
 
Bill Soucie, Operations Director for CLCJAWA, and Village Staff will be in attendance at Tuesday’s meeting to 
respond to questions from the ABR.  If you should have any questions regarding this matter, please feel free to 
contact me at 847-283-6885. 
 
Attachments: 

 Letter dated 8/28/2016 with photo illustrations 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4























 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                                                                               

             Agenda Item: 15 
 
 
 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT AND WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE 
EMERGENCY REPAIR OF MOFFETT ROAD  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE ENGINEER 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
In 2016 the Village has received a total of six proposals for temporary repairs to Moffett Road at the 
land bridge slope failure located just south of the intersection of Moffett Road and East Witchwood 
Lane. After monitoring the slope failure for the past year and reviewing the latest submitted proposals, it 
is recommended by the Village Engineer that the Village waive competitive bidding and enter into a 
construction contract with V3 Construction Group, LTD. of Woodridge Illinois for a lump sum fee of 
$93,987 to construct the temporary repairs to the Moffett Road land bridge.     
 
The proposed repairs include the installation of a temporary sheet piling wall at the bottom of the slope, 
filling the eroded area with riprap, re-setting the guard rail, replacing a 50’ section of curb and gutter, 
and repairing the damaged portion of the asphalt street.  The repairs are intended to provide a stable 
roadway until the slope can be permanently repaired and regraded, which is scheduled to take place in 
2018, as previously discussed by the Village Board.   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. A copy of the resolution; and  
2. A copy of the proposed construction contract 

 
Village President’s Recommendation: 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:      Adoption of Resolution  
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/12/2016 
 
 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2






























